



Management of chronic pain

A national clinical guideline

Draft for consultation (Waves 1 and 2)

February 2025



Key to evidence statements and recommendations

Levels of evidence

1++	High-quality meta-analyses, systematic reviews of RCTs, or RCTs with a very low risk of bias		
1+	Well-conducted meta-analyses, systematic reviews of RCTs, or RCTs with a low risk of bias		
1 -	Meta-analyses, systematic reviews of RCTs, or RCTs with a high risk of bias		
2++	High-quality systematic reviews of case-control or cohort studies		
	High-quality case-control or cohort studies with a very low risk of confounding or bias and a high probability that the relationship is causal		
2+	Well-conducted case-control or cohort studies with a low risk of confounding or bias and a moderate probability that the relationship is causal		
2 -	Case-control or cohort studies with a high risk of confounding or bias and a significant risk that the relationship is not causal		
3	Non-analytic studies, eg case reports, case series		
4	Expert opinion		

Sufficient / insufficient - Network meta-analyses are given a binary rating according to relevance

Recommendations

and credibility

Some recommendations can be made with more certainty than others. The wording used in the recommendations in this guideline denotes the certainty with which the recommendation is made (the 'strength' of the recommendation).

The 'strength' of a recommendation takes into account the quality (level) of the evidence. Although higher-quality evidence is more likely to be associated with strong recommendations than lowerquality evidence, a particular level of quality does not automatically lead to a particular strength of recommendation.

Other factors that are taken into account when forming recommendations include: relevance to the NHS in Scotland; applicability of published evidence to the target population; consistency of the body of evidence, and the balance of benefits and harms of the options.

- **R** For '**strong**' recommendations on interventions that '**should**' be used, the guideline development group is confident that, for the vast **majority** of people, the intervention (or interventions) will do more good than harm. For '**strong**' recommendations on interventions that '**should not**' be used, the guideline development group is confident that, for the vast **majority** of people, the intervention (or interventions) will do more harm than good.
- **R** For '**conditiona**l' recommendations on interventions that should be '**considered**', the guideline development group is confident that the intervention will do more good than harm for **most** patients. The choice of intervention is therefore more likely to vary depending on a person's values and preferences, and so the healthcare professional should spend more time discussing the options with the patient.

Good-practice points

Recommended best practice based on the clinical experience of the guideline development group.

Contents

1	Introdu	ction	1		
	1.1	The need for a guideline	1		
	1.2	Remit of the guideline	2		
	1.3	Definitions	4		
	1.4	Reporting in pain trials	4		
	1.5	Statement of intent	5		
2	Opioids				
	2.1	Introduction	10		
	2.2	Evidence of benefit	11		
	2.3	Evidence of harms	13		
	2.4	Summary of benefits and harms of opioids for chronic pain	14		
	2.5	Other factors	15		
3	Naloxone				
	3.1	Introduction	17		
	3.2	Evidence of benefit	17		
	3.3	Evidence of harms	18		
	3.4	Summary of benefits and harms of naloxone coprescription for chronic pain	18		
	3.5	Other factors	18		
4	Medicinal cannabis				
	4.1	Introduction	20		
	4.2	Evidence of benefit	21		
	4.3	Evidence of harms	22		
	4.4	Summary of benefits and harms of medicinal cannabis for chronic pain	23		
	4.5	Other factors	23		
5	Antidepressants				
	5.1	Introduction	25		
	5.2	Evidence of benefit	25		
	5.3	Evidence of harms	26		
	5.4	Summary of benefits and harms of antidepressants for chronic pain	27		
	5.5	Other factors	28		
6	Pain management programmes				
	6.1	Introduction	29		
	6.2	Definitions	29		
	6.3	Evidence of benefit	31		
	6.4	Evidence of harms	33		
	6.5	Summary of benefits and harms of pain management programmes	33		
	6.6	Other factors	34		
7	Psycho	ological interventions	35		

	7.1	Introduction	35				
	7.2	Definitions	35				
	7.3	Evidence of benefit	36				
	7.4	Evidence of harms	39				
	7.5	Summary of benefits and harms of psychological interventions for chronic pain	39				
	7.5	Other factors	40				
8	Self-h	Self-help interventions					
	8.1	Introduction	41				
	8.2	Peer support interventions	41				
	8.3	Self management interventions	43				
9	Occup	Occupation-based interventions					
	9.1	Introduction	47				
	9.2	Evidence of benefit	47				
	9.3	Evidence of harms	48				
	9.4	Other factors	49				
	9.5	Summary of benefits and harms of occupation-based interventions for chronic pain	49				
10	Imple	Implementing the guideline					
	10.1	Implementation strategy	51				
	10.2	Resource implications of key recommendations	51				
	10.3	Auditing current practice	51				
	10.4	Health technology assessment advice for NHSScotland	51				
11	The e	The evidence base					
	11.1	Systematic literature review	52				
	11.2	Recommendations for research	52				
12	Devel	opment of the guideline	57				
	12.1	Introduction	57				
	12.2	The guideline development group	57				
	12.3	Consultation and peer review	60				
	Abbre	Abbreviations					
	Annex	(es	66				
	Refere	ences	69				

1 Introduction

1.1 The need for a guideline

Chronic pain is pain that persists for more than three months, or beyond normal injury healing time.¹ It is a major clinical and public health challenge: prevalence figures vary, with estimates between 35.0 to 51.3% in the UK, increasing with age (18-25 years old: 14.3%; over 7 years old: 62%).² The prevalence of moderate to severely disabling chronic pain is up to 14.3%. It has a considerable impact on quality of life, resulting in significant suffering and disability.³⁻⁵ Globally, back pain remains the leading cause of years lived with disability.⁶ While in many cases it is accepted that a cure is unlikely, the impact on quality of life, mood and function can be significantly reduced by appropriate management. Chronic pain not only has an impact on affected individuals and their families, it also has substantial economic costs, although accurate up-to-date figures for these are hard to obtain. For example, back pain alone was estimated to cost £12 billion per annum in the UK in 1998, and arthritis-associated pain costs around 2.5% of the gross national product of Western nations.^{7,8} A more recent Norwegian study of healthcare and work absence costs estimated that 4% of gross domestic product (GDP) was spent on chronic pain.9

While a proportion of patients will require access to specialist secondary and tertiary care pain services, the majority of patients will be managed in the community or primary care. It is vital that general practitioners (GPs) and other healthcare professionals have the best possible resource and support to manage their patients properly and have facilities for accessing appropriate specialist services when required. Within Scotland there is evidence of wide variation in clinical practice service and resource provision, with a general lack of knowledge about chronic pain and the management options that are available.^{10,11}

A wide range of both pharmacological and non-pharmacological management strategies are available for chronic pain. The challenge is to understand the extensive published evidence for different treatments and to determine when and where to use them for the best long-term outcomes. It is hoped that this evidence-based guideline will provide the information needed to improve clinical outcomes and quality of life for people with chronic pain.

1.1.1 Lived-experience perspective

People with lived experience may have different perspectives on healthcare processes and outcomes from those of healthcare professionals. The involvement of people with lived experience in guideline development is therefore important to ensure that guidelines reflect their needs and concerns and address issues that matter to them.

Common concerns raised by groups and organisations and through research¹² include:

- raising awareness and improving pathways for supported self management in all people affected by chronic pain and ensuring it can be delivered on an ongoing basis to adequately support individuals in the longer term.
- more public information about what chronic pain is, its impact on people in Scotland and how to access support.
- information about the different types of treatment available for chronic pain and when they are used.
- information about what services and health and care teams are available locally and how they might help individuals to manage their pain closer to home.
- access to support to help individuals manage the impact of their pain on their mental health and wellbeing.

Healthcare Improvement Scotland gathered information from people in Scotland living with chronic pain to support the Scottish Government <u>Framework for Pain Management Service Delivery</u>.¹³ The work involved gathering lived experience from individuals living with chronic pain by asking questions about the care and support they had experienced through health and social care services and local support groups. The report summarises feedback from 92 people with chronic pain and includes recommendations for improved service delivery in the following areas:

- staff understanding and attitudes
- access to support services
- different types of support
- self management
- feedback from people with lived experience.

SIGN will publish a plain language version of this guideline alongside the full version in order to:

- help people understand the latest evidence around diagnosis, treatment, and self-care
- empower people to actively participate in decisions about managing their condition in discussions with health and social care professionals
- highlight areas of uncertainty for people, making them aware of where more information or research is needed.

1.2 Remit of the guideline

1.2.1 Overall objectives

This guideline provides recommendations based on current evidence for best practice in the management of adults with chronic non-malignant pain in non-specialist settings. It does not cover:

- interventions which can only be delivered in secondary/tertiary care.
- treatment of patients with migraine or headache (see SIGN 155, Pharmacological management of migraine).¹⁴
- pain caused by cancer.
- children. While chronic pain occurs in children, some of their treatment options are different to those of adults, and evidence on the paediatric population has not been included in this remit (see the Scottish Government guideline Management of chronic pain in children and young people¹⁵ and World Health Organization (WHO) guideline on the management of chronic pain in children.¹⁶)
- underlying conditions. Chronic pain is caused by many underlying conditions. The treatment of these conditions is not the focus of this guideline so the search strategies were restricted to the treatment of chronic pain, not specific conditions.

In order to ensure that the recommendations are available as soon as possible, this SIGN guideline has been developed sequentially, with each component containing review of several research questions (see Annex 1). The order in which this is being done does not reflect the relative important of the questions, nor strength of available evidence. This document contains information on:

- opioids
- naloxone
- medicinal cannabis
- antidepressants
- pain management programmes
- psychological interventions
- self-help interventions, and
- occupation-based interventions.

SIGN will circulate further documents for consultation containing information relating to the remaining topics when available.

1.2.2 Comorbidities to consider when managing patients with chronic pain

The prevalence of chronic pain increases with age with one systematic review reporting prevalence of 14.3% in those aged 18–25 years rising to 62% in those over 75 years.² Older adults are at increased risk of multimorbidity, including cardiovascular disease, dementia and renal disease with consequential increased risk of experiencing pain and incapacity. The existence of multimorbidity in the ageing population can also impact on overall medication safety.¹⁷

Common comorbidities and coexisting health issues which have been considered when reviewing the evidence for this guideline are:

- mood disorders (including depression and anxiety)
- cardiovascular disease and stroke
- diabetes
- surgical and medical interventions
- obesity.¹⁸

1.2.3 Target users of the guideline

This guideline will be of particular interest to all healthcare professionals involved in the assessment and management of people with chronic pain, including general practitioners, pharmacists, anaesthetists, psychologists, psychiatrists, physiotherapists, rheumatologists, occupational therapists, and nurses. Importantly, this guideline is also for people with chronic pain, carers and voluntary organisations with an interest in chronic pain as a resource containing recommendations and which summarises the supporting evidence. This aims to support a more effective partnership between healthcare professionals and people living with chronic pain, to improve management.

1.3 Definitions and classification of chronic pain

Pain is defined by the International Association for the Study of Pain as "an unpleasant sensory or emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage".¹⁹ In this guideline chronic pain is defined as pain that has been present for more than 3 months.

The Scottish Government recognised chronic pain as a long-term condition in its own right in 2009. However, it is only in the most recent International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11) that there has been a comprehensive and systematic classification developed for chronic pain.^{20,21} The ICD is the main tool used in many countries for coding diagnoses and interventions but the lack of effective coding for chronic pain to date has led to major deficiencies in epidemiological understanding of chronic pain and its impact. The new ICD-11 chronic pain coding is a significant advance, which will help to advance the recognition of chronic pain in primary care as an important condition, supporting service planning, education and research for chronic pain.²²

This guideline covers management that can be delivered in the nonspecialist setting, defined as any setting where the training and infrastructure is not specifically designed for treating chronic pain. This might include management in the community, primary care or secondary care.

1.4 Reporting in pain trials

Difficulties in reporting make the interpretation of the evidence base

challenging. Chronic pain is a complex phenomenon with consequent challenges for its assessment and management both in clinical trials and routine clinical practice. This is further complicated by the fact that even in the same condition the underlying pain mechanisms may differ significantly between individuals. While changes in peripheral pain processing might predominate in one patient, central changes may be much more important in the next patient with implications for the most effective treatment approaches in each case.²³⁻²⁵

These limitations have been recognised internationally, leading to the development of the Initiative on Methods, Measurement and Pain Assessment in Clinical Trials (IMMPACT, www.immpact.org) in 2002. In clinical trials, unless there is careful assessment of the chronic pain syndrome in each patient, potentially useful treatments may be discarded as being ineffective when the average response is considered. Even good guality, adequately powered double blind randomised controlled trials may not provide the best approach for developing a strong evidence base for pain management.²⁶⁻²⁸ Innovative approaches to the methodology of clinical pain trials are needed, taking into consideration a number of factors, including entry criteria (eg, baseline pain scores),²⁹ and individual variation in treatment response.³⁰ Pragmatic clinical trials which bridge the translational gap between tightly controlled explanatory clinical trials and real world clinical effectiveness may be one approach to be considered.²⁶ Furthermore, ensuring robust involvement of people with chronic pain throughout the research cycle has been recognised as important:³¹ to ensure relevance of study questions, appropriate study design and meaningful outcome measures, including consideration of composite measures (that reflect not just pain intensity but its wider impact).³²

A number of factors need to be considered in order to optimise the design of trials studying chronic pain. These include patient selection (pain diagnosis, duration, intensity) and sample size, different phases within the trial (eg enriched enrolment) and duration of study, treatment groups (including active versus inactive placebo comparator), dosing strategies (fixed versus flexible) and type of trial (eg parallel, crossover).^{26,28,33}

To allow comparison between studies a standardised approach to outcome measures, is recommended by IMMPACT.²⁶ Four key domains were recommended to adequately assess outcomes:

- 1. *Pain intensity*. A numerical rating scale 0-10 is recommended as the most practical and sensitive.
- 2. *Physical functioning*. Assessment with validated self-report questionnaires such as the Multidimensional Pain Inventory or Brief Pain Inventory interference scales is recommended.
- 3. *Emotional functioning*. The Beck Depression Inventory and the Profile of Mood States are recommended.
- 4. *Patient rating of overall improvement*. The Patient Global Impression of Change scale can be used.

Side effects and detailed information about patient recruitment and

progress through the trial should also be recorded.^{34,35}

While much of the literature published to date does provide a sound evidence base for this guideline, it is hoped that future studies will follow the IMMPACT recommendations.

In addition to the limitations of assessment and trial design, concerns have been raised about how analysis methods may either obscure clinically important positive outcomes, or overestimate treatment effects. If the average response is considered, a treatment may appear ineffective, whereas it could have the potential to be effective in a particular subgroup of the patients being studied. It may, therefore, be useful to analyse responders to a particular treatment separately from non-responders.²⁸

Another important factor is how patients who drop out before completing the study are dealt with in the analysis. Using the last-observation-carried-forward (LOCF) for patients who drop out is based on the assumption that in a randomised controlled trial (RCT) drop-outs will occur randomly between the treatment groups. The active treatment may be an effective analgesic but if it has an unpleasant side effect profile then drop-outs are likely to be higher in a non-random manner in this treatment group. Pain scores prior to drop-out may therefore demonstrate efficacy, but in clinical practice this treatment is unlikely to be tolerated. The majority of RCTs use the imputation method of LOCF, and may therefore potentially overestimate the treatment effect.³⁶

While there are a number of good quality systematic reviews and metaanalyses that provide an evidence base for the management of patients with chronic pain, there are some limitations with the published primary literature. This has been taken into consideration by the guideline development group when appraising the evidence and, where there are areas of potential doubt, recommendations have been downgraded accordingly. Research recommendations have been made where clear gaps and limitations in the evidence were identified (*see section 11.2*).

1.4.1 What is a clinically important difference?

While proof of the statistical significance of trial results may be established by inferential statics, such as a p value, a more directly applicable question for healthcare professionals is whether or not results are also clinically important. The concept of the minimum clinically-important difference (MCID) was introduced to determine and communicate whether there was clinical relevance associated with the observed differences between treatments in a clinical trial. It has been defined as "the smallest difference in score in the domain of interest which patients perceive as beneficial and which would mandate, in the absence of troublesome side effects and excessive cost, a change in the patient's management."³⁷ There is no agreement on a single MCID for people living with chronic pain as it is recognised to vary between different patient populations and the various health outcome measures used in clinical trials. Variability may also be seen among studies examining the same patient population as a result of differences in study design, study location, and treatment administered. A systematic review, including 66 studies of treatments for chronic pain found a median absolute MCID of 23 mm on a 0–100 mm scale (interquartile range (IQR) 12–39), with very high heterogeneity ($I^2 = 99\%$) around 2/3 of which was associated with baseline pain.³⁸ The authors note that MCID for chronic pain relief varied considerably among published studies and was influenced by the operational definition of relevant pain relief and clinical condition of participants in the studies.

The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) whose comprehensive evidence reviews are cited several times in this guideline has summarised their definitions for magnitude of effects in meta-analyses of chronic pain trials as follows:

- A small effect was defined for pain as a mean between-group difference following treatment of 0.5 to 1.0 points on a 0- to 10-point numeric rating scale or visual analog scale (VAS) and for function as a standardised mean difference (SMD) of 0.2 to 0.5 or a mean difference of 5 to 10 points on the 0 to 100-point Oswestry Disability Index (ODI), 1 to 2 points on the 0 to 24-point Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire (RDQ), or equivalent.
- A moderate effect was defined for pain as a mean difference of 10 to 20 points on a 0- to 100-point VAS and for function as an SMD of 0.5 to 0.8, or a mean difference of 10 to 20 points on the ODI, 2 to 5 points on the RDQ, or equivalent.
- Large/substantial effects were defined as greater than moderate.

1.5 Statement of intent

This guideline is not intended to be construed or to serve as a standard of care. Standards of care are determined on the basis of all clinical data available for an individual case and are subject to change as scientific knowledge and technology advance and patterns of care evolve. Adherence to guideline recommendations will not ensure a successful outcome in every case, nor should they be construed as including all proper methods of care or excluding other acceptable methods of care aimed at the same results.

The ultimate judgement must be made by the appropriate healthcare professional(s) responsible for clinical decisions regarding a particular clinical procedure or treatment plan. This judgement should only be arrived at through a process of shared decision making with the patient, covering the diagnostic and treatment choices available. It is advised, however, that significant departures from the national guideline or any local guidelines derived from it should be documented in the patient's medical records at the time the relevant decision is taken.

1.5.1 Influence of financial and other interests

It has been recognised that financial or academic interests may have an influence on the interpretation of evidence from clinical studies.

It is not possible to completely eliminate any possible bias from these sources, nor even to quantify the degree of bias with any certainty. SIGN requires that all those involved in the work of guideline development should declare all financial and academic interests, whether direct or indirect, annually for as long as they are actively working with the organisation. By being explicit about the influences to which contributors are subjected, SIGN acknowledges the risk of bias and makes it possible for guideline users or reviewers to assess for themselves how likely it is that the conclusions and guideline recommendations are based on a biased interpretation of the evidence.

Signed copies of declaration of interests forms are retained by the SIGN Executive and a register of interests is available in the supporting material section for this guideline at **www.sign.ac.uk**

1.5.2 Prescribing of licensed medicines outwith their marketing authorisation

Recommendations within this guideline are based on the best clinical evidence. Some recommendations may be for medicines prescribed outwith the marketing authorisation (MA) also known as product licence. This is known as 'off-label' use.

Medicines may be prescribed 'off label' in the following circumstances:

- for an indication not specified within the marketing authorisation
- for administration via a different route
- for administration of a different dose
- for a different patient population.

An unlicensed medicine is a medicine which does not have MA for medicinal use in humans.

Generally 'off-label' prescribing of medicines becomes necessary if the clinical need cannot be met by licensed medicines within the marketing authorisation. Such use should be supported by appropriate evidence and experience.³⁹

"Prescribing medicines outside the conditions of their marketing authorisation alters (and probably increases) the prescribers' professional responsibility and potential liability".³⁹

The General Medical Council (GMC) recommends that when prescribing a medicine 'off label', doctors should:⁴⁰

- be satisfied that there is no suitably licensed medicine that will meet the patient's need
- be satisfied that there is sufficient evidence or experience of using the medicine to show its safety and efficacy
- take responsibility for prescribing the medicine and for overseeing the patient's care, including monitoring the effects of the medicine, and any follow-up treatment, or ensure that arrangements are made for another suitable doctor to do so.
- make a clear, accurate and legible record of all medicines prescribed

and, when not following common practice, the reasons for prescribing an unlicensed medicine.

Non-medical and medical prescribers should ensure that they are familiar with the legislative framework and the <u>Royal Pharmaceutical Society's</u> <u>Competency Framework for all Prescribers</u>.⁴¹

Prior to any prescribing, the licensing status of a medication should be checked in the Summary of Product Characteristics (SmPc) (www.medicines.org.uk). The prescriber must be competent, operate within the professional code of ethics of their statutory bodies and the prescribing practices of their employers.⁴²

1.5.3 Health technology assessment advice for NHSScotland

Specialist teams within Healthcare Improvement Scotland issue a range of advice that focuses on the safe and effective use of medicines and technologies in NHSScotland.

The Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC) provides advice to NHS boards and their Area Drug and Therapeutics Committees about the status of all newly-licensed medicines, new formulations of existing medicines and new indications for established products. NHSScotland should take account of this advice and ensure that medicines accepted for use are made available to meet clinical need where appropriate.

SMC advice relevant to this guideline is summarised in the section on implementation.

2 Opioids

2.1 Introduction

In recent decades there has been a significant increase in opioid prescribing for people living with chronic pain, despite limited evidence for long-term efficacy. There is international concern around the rise in opioid prescribing and opioid-associated mortality rates in the United States, Australia and Europe.⁴³⁻⁴⁵ Opioid prescribing rate rises have been reflected in Scotland and England^{46,47} with an increase between 2012 and 2016 followed by a gradual fall (excluding a slight increase during the COVID-19 pandemic).^{48,49} Meanwhile, there has been growing awareness and concern about the harms caused by long-term use of opioids and their adverse effects.^{50,51}

These concerns prompted the Faculty of Pain Medicine (Royal College of Anaesthetists) <u>'Opioids Aware' campaign</u>, which provides evidence-based resources and advice for clinicians and patients on the use of opioids for pain (including chronic pain). In 2018 the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) produced a statement on the use of opioids in people with chronic pain, which concluded that, "There may be a role for medium-term, low-dose opioid therapy in carefully selected patients with chronic pain who can be managed in a monitored setting. However, with continuous longer-term use, tolerance, dependence and other adaptations compromise both efficacy and safety".⁵² Evidence from the United States of America (USA) indicates that opioid use around the time of surgery (peri-operative opioid use) may have contributed to the large increase in prolonged opioid use.⁵³

Opioids have been used for their analgesic effects for centuries. For the majority of clinically used opioids, this effect is predominantly, although not exclusively, via the mu opioid receptor (MOR). The potency of different opioids at this receptor varies. Some opioids, such as codeine, dihydrocodeine, tramadol and tapentadol, have defined upper dose limits in the British National Formulary (BNF). Among these, the BNF classifies codeine and dihydrocodeine as "weak opioids", with the other commonlyused opioids being classed as "strong opioids".⁵⁴ Tramadol and tapentadol have additional actions on pain systems through noradrenergic mechanisms; tramadol also acts through serotoninergic reuptake inhibition. These additional actions on pain systems may have advantages in some chronic pain conditions such as neuropathic or mixed pains, but they can also limit upward dose titration and increase the range of adverse effects. In 2014 tramadol was reclassified by the UK Government as a Schedule 3 controlled drug, and recategorised by the BNF as a strong opioid (despite its relatively low potency at MORs). Other strong opioids listed in the BNF include morphine, diamorphine, hydromorphone, oxycodone, fentanyl, buprenorphine and methadone.54

2.2 Evidence of benefit

Comparing opioids with placebo or non-opioids in terms of clinical effectiveness, there is high-quality evidence available, including a systematic review pooling data from 74 RCTs (20,502 participants),⁵⁵ a systematic review and network meta-analysis (NMA) pooling data from 82 RCTs (22,619 participants),⁵⁶ and several additional studies from surveillance to March 2022.⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹

There were no RCTs comparing opioids with placebo for longer than 6 months' follow up, and only one that compared opioids with non-opioids for up to one year's follow up.⁶⁰

2.2.1 Opioids versus placebo

Comparing opioids with placebo, opioids were associated with a slightly lower pain intensity score (mean difference (MD) -0.79 on a scale from 0 to 10, 95% confidence interval [CI] -0.93 to -0.67; 71 trials, 19,616 participants).⁵⁵ This difference of less than 1 point on an 11-point scale is unlikely to be clinically significant. When only trials with 3 to 6 months' follow up were included, there was no difference in pain intensity between opioids and placebo (MD -0.30, 95% CI -0.83 to 0.23; 8 trials, 2,243 participants). When considering all studies regardless of follow-up duration, there was evidence of a pain response (typically defined as a 30% or great pain reduction, though definitions across studies varied) for opioids when compared with placebo (risk ratio (RR) 1.35, 95% CI 1.24 to 1.48; 44 trials, 12,481 participants). When restricted to studies with followup periods between 3 and 6 months, there was no significant difference in the likelihood of pain response from opioids compared with placebo (RR 1.19, 95% CI 0.68 to 2.17; 5 trials, 1,503 participants). There was highquality evidence of better function and physical health status in the short term (1 to <6 months). Greater improvement in physical health status was seen with opioids (1.64/100, 95% CI 1.10 to 2.17; 23 trials, 8,005 participants) compared with placebo, although this improvement was small and not clinically significant, and there was no difference in mental health status (-0.48/100, 95% CI -1.39 to 0.44; 21 trials, 7,586 participants). No studies had longer than 6 months' follow up.

Greater short-term benefit from opioids (versus placebo) has been reported for people with neuropathic pain (-1.15 points on an 11-point scale, 95% CI -1.43 to -0.91; 20 trials, 2,568 participants) compared to those with musculoskeletal pain (-0.67 point on an 11-point scale, 95% CI - 0.81 to -0.54; 50 trials, 16,979 participants).⁵⁵ The difference of 0.48 points is statistically significant (p=0.009), although of uncertain clinical importance (*see section 1.4.1*). Although the difference in pain intensity reduction with enriched enrolment RCTs (which ensure that only responders who experience considerable pain relief and no or acceptable side effects on a predefined or titrated dose during a selection phase are included in the randomised double-blind experimental phase) compared with non-enriched enrolment RCTs was non-significant (-0.86 vs -0.75),

the former resulted in a significantly lower relative risk of discontinuation due to adverse events (RR 1.35, 95% CI 1.02 to 1.78; 25 trials, 8,011 participants) compared with non-enriched RCT designs (RR 3.06, 95% CI 2.5 to 3.81; 36 trials, 11,983 participants, p<0.005).

A well conducted systematic review with NMA evaluated 14 opioids either against placebo or against each other.⁵⁶ Seventy-eight trials which included 21,906 participants reported on pain relief. Using the surface under the cumulative ranking curve (SUCRA) rankings suggested that modified-release (MR) codeine, MR oxymorphone, and immediate-release (IR) oxycodone were the best opioids for pain relief with reduction in pain scores ranging from 0.99 to 2.03 cm on a 10 cm scale but these findings were supported by evidence rated low to very low certainty.

There was high to moderate certainty evidence that IR tramadol, MR morphine, sublingual buprenorphine, MR tapentadol, and MR tramadol were superior to placebo, with pain reduction ranging from 0.8 to 1.09 cm on a 10 cm scale.

For physical function, the evidence (39 studies, 13,134 participants) was rated low to very low quality and according to the SUCRA rankings the most effective opioids for improving function were MR codeine and MR hydromorphone.

2.2.2 Opioids versus non-opioid medication

Comparing opioids with non-opioids (medications used across trials included non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), antiarrhythmic drugs, anticonvulsants and antidepressants), no difference in terms of pain reduction was observed (MD -0.29 on a 0 to 10 scale, 95% CI -0.61 to 0.03) at short-term follow up (1 to <6 months; 14 trials, 2,195 participants), nor for likelihood of a pain response (RR 1.28, 95% CI 0.90 to 1.85; 12 trials, 2,886 participants).⁵⁵

For effects on functional ability, pooled analysis of 11 RCTs which included 2,010 participants found that there was no difference in functional ability between opioids and non-opioids (standardised mean difference (SMD) 0.00, 95% CI -0.14 to 0.12).

No data was reported on quality of life in studies comparing opioids versus non-opioid use. Only one study, the Strategies for Prescribing Analgesics Comparative Effectiveness (SPACE) trial,⁶⁰ which followed participants up for longer than 6 months, was identified in meta-analyses.⁵⁵ The trial compared outcomes in 106 people with chronic musculoskeletal pain who received opioids with 115 receiving non-opioid medicines and found no difference in function between the groups, but a greater reduction in pain severity among those receiving opioids (4.0/10 vs 3.5/10) at 12 months. The size of this effect did not meet the minimal clinically important difference (MCID) established by the trial authors (*see section 1.4.1*).

2.2.3 Summary of effectiveness

Evidence based on high-quality systematic reviews consistently found little or no reduction in pain severity among people with chronic pain who were

Sufficient relevance, sufficient credibility

treated with opioids, compared with placebo or non-opioid medications. Where improvements in pain severity and function were seen with opioids, these were small and not clinically significant, and there was no evidence of opioid efficacy when treatment was given beyond 3 months.

Taking into account the low certainty of evidence alongside the calculated rankings of relative efficacy from the NMA supports the assertion that individual opioids are similarly effective with no opioid showing superior short-term effectiveness.

2.3 Evidence of harms

2.3.1 Opioids versus placebo

Opioids were associated with a greater risk (RR 2.25, 95% CI 1.86 to 2.73; 61 trials, n=19,994 participants) of study discontinuation due to adverse events compared with placebo. There were significantly greater risks of all recorded adverse events (nausea, vomiting, constipation, somnolence, dizziness, pruritus), except for headache (no difference) at short-term follow up.⁵⁵

In the NMA, 53 studies (n=20,283) reported on vomiting. The highest certainty of evidence was for MR oxycodone which was found to result in greater risk of vomiting than placebo with an odds ratio of 7.12 (95% CI 5.42 to 9.35). Analysis of 67 trials with 22,681 participants provided high to moderate certainty evidence that MR oxycodone, MR tramadol and MR tapentadol resulted in increased nausea compared with placebo. Analysis of 64 studies with 22,531 participants provided high to moderate certainty evidence, MR hydromorphone, and MR tramadol resulted in increased risk of constipation compared with placebo.⁵⁶

2.3.2 Opioids versus non-opioid medication

Pooled analysis of 12 RCTs with 3,637 participants found that opioids were more likely than non-opioids to be associated with discontinuation due to adverse events (RR 2.18, 95% CI 1.48 to 3.08; moderate certainty of evidence). The most common adverse events were vomiting, pruritis, constipation, nausea, drowsiness and headache. Risk of adverse events/drug reactions and discontinuation did not differ between low and high opioid doses. There were also associations between opioid use and fractures, falls, cardiovascular events, and endocrine outcomes, but not with self harm.⁵⁵

2.3.3 Other evidence

No systematic review of RCTs has identified studies that investigate the long-term (>12 months) adverse effects of opioids. Observational studies found that, compared with people taking opioids, people not taking opioids were more likely to report lower pain intensity at one year,⁵⁵ and were less likely to experience severe pain-related interference with activities at two years.⁶¹ The SPACE trial, that followed participants up for 12 months found that those receiving opioids experienced more (1.8 vs 0.9), and more

1++

Sufficient relevance, sufficient credibility

frequent (p=0.03) medication-related symptoms than those receiving non-opioid medicines.⁶⁰

A systematic review and its associated surveillance reports noted consistent evidence from observational studies of associations between increasing opioid dose and increasing risk of overdose and opioid-related mortality.⁵⁷ Similarly, observational studies report a dose-dependent association between opioid prescription and opioid use disorder (OUD), with both a higher daily dose, and, particularly, a longer duration of therapy associated with a greater risk of subsequent OUD. One case-control study reported that doses of opioids greater than 20 mg MED/day taken by drivers were associated with increased odds of injuries related to road trauma.⁵⁵

A 10-year longitudinal study followed up over one million adults (mostly in the UK) who were prescribed opioids for non-cancer pain. They found that UK adults who were prescribed morphine had a 12-fold risk of all-cause mortality compared with those who had been prescribed codeine (hazard ratio (HR) 12.58, 95% CI 11.87 to 13.32). This risk was dose dependent, and rose with age. All-cause mortality risk was greater among those prescribed >50 mg/day morphine equivalent dose (MED), and in the presence of multimorbidity and/or a history of substance misuse.⁶²

A systematic review of studies involving individuals treated with opioids for chronic non-malignant pain (148 studies, >4.3 million participants) reported that 9.3% experienced dependence and opioid use disorder (D&OUD), with a further 12.4% at risk of this, and a total of 29.6% showing signs and symptoms of D&OUD.⁶³

The authors of a large systematic review with meta-analysis of opioid treatments for chronic pain noted that most trials excluded people with substance use history or mental health disorders or did not describe these characteristics, meaning that differential effects according to comorbidities could not be assessed.⁵⁵ However, they identified a large UK cohort study estimating risk of overdose (98,140 participants) which reported a dose-dependent increase of hazard ratio for overdose (≥50 mg morphine-equivalent dose (MED)/day compared with no opioid (HR 3.81, 95% CI 2.50 to 5.80).⁶⁴

Although screening tools exist to predict D&OUD, evidence for their effectiveness is weak, and their effect size has been modest at best. A systematic review identified no reliable evidence for the effectiveness for the use of urine drug screening, pill counts or prescription drug monitoring programmes to predict subsequent misuse.⁶⁵

There is therefore consistent evidence of adverse events associated with opioid treatment, and this association appears to be dose dependent.

2.4 Summary of benefits and harms of opioids for chronic pain

There may be limited short-term benefits in pain intensity and some aspects of function associated with short-term use of opioids. These benefits appear to be small and to reduce or disappear with longer-term 2++ (evidenc e level limited to studies used in this analysis)

2+

2++ (evidenc e level limited to studies used in this analysis) use (beyond 3 months). The possibility that some people who use opioids may experience greater short-term benefits cannot be excluded. This suggests that individualised treatment may be considered. There is no evidence suggesting that opioids may be more effective than a placebo after six months, and some evidence suggesting that pain-related and functional outcomes may be worse with long-term (>12 months) opioid use, compared with not taking opioids.

There are strong associations between opioid therapy and adverse effects (minor and serious), with approximately two- to threefold greater relative risk of specific adverse events (gastrointestinal symptoms, drowsiness, dizziness, and itching) versus placebo. Observational evidence consistently shows dose-dependent associations between opioid therapy and subsequent opioid use disorder, overdose and death, as well as evidence that taking opioids for longer duration is associated with opioid use disorder.

2.5 Other factors

2.5.1 Prescribing opioids

The evidence suggests that for most people with chronic non-cancer pain, opioid treatment provides minimal-to-no benefit and is likely outweighed by adverse effects, especially after three months, in terms of both pain intensity and overall function. In most people presenting with chronic non-malignant pain, therefore, opioids are unlikely to be appropriate. Certainly, nothing other than short-term (<3 months) use should be considered unless there is clear evidence of benefits outweighing actual or potential harm beyond three months. Any prescribing should be accompanied by early and frequent review to minimise harms and optimise duration of treatment for maximum benefit.

If a trial of an opioid is considered, then measurable treatment goals should be agreed between clinician and person with chronic pain before opioids are started and an exit strategy put in place if these goals are not achieved.⁶⁶ This will need a comprehensive biopsychosocial assessment, and consideration of personal goals, knowledge, previous experience and preferences. Shared decision-making will be important, involving individuals, families and carers as well as the healthcare team. This will need to deploy the evidence that is available, and with educational material such as that which will accompany this guideline, and that already available through <u>Opioids Aware</u>. The lack of good evidence for specific risk prediction tools means that clinical judgment, based on this assessment, discussion and information, is important from the outset.

People who are already being prescribed long-term opioids will need separate consideration, and assessment of benefits (pain reduction, function, quality of life) and harms, potentially with a view to safe reduction and withdrawal of treatment, if appropriate.⁶⁷ It will be important to consider the possibility of stigmatising people who have been taking opioids on long-term prescription, and to avoid this.

The following recommendations are based on high-level evidence (for limited clinical effectiveness and risk of adverse events/drug reaction) during the first six months, and on low-level evidence after six months and regarding the risk of overdose and other adverse events. These recommendations cover both IR and MR opioids.

- **R** Opioids should not be considered routinely for people with chronic non-malignant pain. In carefully selected individuals, when other therapies have been fully explored, opioids can be considered for short-term treatment (up to 3 months), if it is considered that the potential benefits outweigh the risks of serious harms such as addiction, overdose and death.
- **R** After prescribing opioids, clinicians should undertake early and frequent review to identify any benefits and potential or actual adverse events/drug reactions, with a view to adjusting the dose or stopping the prescription when benefits cease or when adverse events occur.
- R All people receiving opioid doses of >50 mg MED/day should be reviewed regularly (at least annually) to detect emerging harms and consider ongoing effectiveness. Pain specialist advice or review should be sought at doses >90 mg MED/day.
- ✓ For people who are already on long-term opioids, clinicians should consider reviewing them to assess benefits and potential or actual harms, with a view to reducing or stopping the prescription.

3 Naloxone

3.1 Introduction

Naloxone is an opioid antagonist which can be used to temporarily reverse the central nervous system (CNS) and respiratory depressant effects of an opioid overdose. Naloxone is licenced for lay administration in the event of a suspected opioid overdose; legislation allows for anyone to administer naloxone for the purpose of saving a life.

Naloxone is a prescription- only medicine, however <u>specific legislation is in</u> <u>place within the UK</u> that allows the supply of intramuscular and intranasal formulations to people at risk of an opioid overdose without the need for a prescription, under certain circumstances.

<u>A national naloxone programme was established in Scotland in 2011 in</u> <u>response to increasing numbers of drug-related deaths.</u> After training, naloxone kits suitable for community administration are supplied to people at risk of opioid overdose, their friends, family and service workers to help reduce drug-related deaths in Scotland. <u>During Quarter 3 2023/24 there</u> were 7,589 naloxone kits issued across Scotland.

Whilst the supply of naloxone has been successfully established in Scotland the focus of the programme is to target those at increased risk of opioid overdose due to substance misuse. Current practice in Scotland does not proactively identify people who are prescribed opioids for chronic pain who may be at an increased risk of opioid overdose (See section 2.3.3).

This section of the guideline assesses current evidence on whether naloxone should be co-prescribed when opioids are used for chronic pain (or when long-term/high dose opioids are prescribed)

3.2 Evidence of benefit

There is limited evidence around the coprescribing of naloxone when opioids are indicated for chronic pain. Only one observational study, which was rated at acceptable quality, was identified that investigated coprescribing of naloxone when opioids are indicated for chronic pain (or when long-term/high-dose opioids are prescribed).⁶⁸

The observational study assessed the association between coprescribing of intranasal naloxone for people taking daily opioids for chronic pain and the use of emergency departments (ED) in a safety-net healthcare setting in the USA.⁶⁸ Safety-net hospitals provide healthcare for individuals regardless of their insurance status or ability to pay. These hospitals typically serve a proportionately higher number of uninsured, low-income, and other vulnerable individuals. Whilst, in Scotland, the risk of being prescribed an opioid is higher in areas of high deprivation,⁴⁷ differences in the healthcare systems and other sociodemographic factors may make this study population less representative of the Scottish target population.

The mean age of the study participants was 56.7 years (± 10.8), 58.6%

were male, and the majority of patients were black. The most commonly prescribed opioid was oxycodone and the median dose 53 mg MED/day. The study does not provide any information regarding comorbidities or polypharmacy within this population. Notably they were not able to determine whether the patients included in the analysis had any history of substance use, however, people taking opioids for opioid use disorder at the time of the study were excluded.

The observational study suggested benefit in coprescribing naloxone when opioids are indicated for chronic pain. The study found that, on average, coprescribing naloxone was associated with 6% fewer ED visits per month (incidence rate ratio (IRR) 0.94, 95% CI 0.89 to 0.998, p=0.044), a 47% reduction in ED visits per month after 6 months (IRR 0.53, 95% CI 0.34 to 0.83, p=0.005) and 63% reduction after one year (IRR 0.37, 95% CI 0.22 to 0.64, p<0.001).

When advised to offer naloxone to all people receiving long-term opioids, clinicians were found to be more likely to prescribe naloxone to those whom they considered to be at higher risk for opioid overdose, including individuals receiving higher doses of opioids and those who had previously had an opioid-related ED admission. There is no information about whether naloxone prescribed was actually dispensed, and no investigation of outcomes other than ED attendance.

3.3 Evidence of harms

The study hypothesises that prescribing naloxone may change patient behaviour with respect to opioids. However, the authors also caution that there may be hazards to risk stratifying users of opioids to be offered naloxone, including stigma and concerns about identifying an individual's elevated risk for overdose.

3.4 Summary of benefits and harms of naloxone coprescription with opioids for chronic pain

There is limited evidence to support widespread coprescribing of naloxone to people prescribed opioids for chronic pain. However, learning from other at-risk groups should be applied and where additional risk factors for opioid overdose are identified clinicians should consider offering naloxone in a suitable "take home" formulation.

3.5 Other factors

Public Health Scotland has reported that the supply of naloxone for use in the community is feasible in the Scottish context as it is already established for other at-risk groups, such as those receiving opiate substitution treatment.

When considering overdose risk among people who misuse drugs, additional risk factors are identified as a history of opioid-related hospital admissions, previous near-fatal overdoses, a history of substance use (including alcohol), coprescribing of depressant medicines, high-dose opioid prescribing, and multimorbidity that increases the risk of opioid toxicity (see section 2.3.3).^{69,70}

It is recognised as good practice to offer training to people who are prescribed opioids for chronic pain and significant others to recognise the signs of an opioid overdose and appropriate intervention, including naloxone administration.⁶⁶

R Clinicians should consider prescribing naloxone for people with chronic pain who are prescribed opioids and who may be at risk of an opioid overdose.

✓ Offer a naloxone product that is suitable for use in the community, for example, an intranasal formulation or prefilled syringe.

4 Medicinal cannabis

4.1 Introduction

There is a need for new, effective, safe pharmacotherapy for long-term management of chronic pain. Since the original guidelines were published in 2013, a number of medicinal cannabis products have become available. with an evolving evidence base around their use in chronic pain management. Anecdotal evidence from patients, and historical reports of cannabis use do indicate a potential analgesic effect. The hemp plant, Cannabis sativa (marijuana), produces up to 60 cannabinoid derivatives, of which delta-9 tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and cannabidiol (CBD) are best known, with medicinal products available containing these compounds.⁷¹ There is a potential neurobiological basis for analgesic effects of cannabinoids, with preclinical evidence of antinociception, through the endocannabinoid system, mediated by G-protein-coupled cannabinoid receptors (CB1 and CB2) found in the peripheral and central nervous system (PNS, CNS). CB1 is expressed in the PNS and CNS, with psychoactive effects from central activation, as seen with THC, CB2 receptors are mainly found in the periphery (eq immune system) with some expression in the brain. Both receptors may have a role in nociception, including in chronic pain models.72-74

It is important to understand the evidence for analgesic use of medicinal cannabis, and any related implications for clinical practice, particularly safety issues, with long-term use. It is essential to avoid a situation such as that which occurred with opioids which were used widely for chronic pain management despite limited evidence of long-term effectiveness and accumulating evidence of major harms (see section 2). For new classes of analgesic drugs, such as cannabinoids, where long-term use is likely, a robust evidence base is needed to support any strong recommendations for clinical use.

Currently in Scotland, although there is no preparation licensed for treatment of chronic pain, delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol (Sativex®) is accepted for use within NHSScotland as treatment for symptom improvement in adults with moderate to severe spasticity due to multiple sclerosis, who have not responded adequately to other antispasticity medication and who demonstrate clinically significant improvement in spasticity-related symptoms during an initial trial of therapy.⁷⁵ Any use for chronic pain would therefore be off label. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guideline 144 on cannabisbased medicinal products did not recommend the use of cannabinoids for the treatment of chronic pain, unless within the context of a clinical trial.⁷⁶ Subsequent to this, position statements from the Faculty of Pain Medicine (Royal College of Anaesthetists, London),⁷⁷ and the IASP (after a comprehensive evidence review for chronic pain)⁷⁸ did not recommend use for chronic pain due to the lack of high-quality evidence for efficacy and safety, particularly with long-term use. The need for robust clinical trials was highlighted by both organisations, as well as the use of regulatory

standards to ensure safety.

4.2 Evidence of benefit

There was a reasonable quantity of evidence on which to base conclusions (subject to significant limitations around quality and risk of bias of studies included in systematic reviews). Thirteen systematic reviews with metaanalyses, and one NMA were identified published between 2018 and 2023.⁷⁹⁻⁹² The number of included RCTs in the systematic reviews ranged from 8⁸³ to 65⁷⁹ (90 from the NMA comparing cannabinoids to opioids or placebo),⁸⁴ with 6⁸⁰ to 57⁸⁹ observational studies. As would be expected, there was considerable overlap of included studies across the reviews. Four of the reviews focussed specifically on chronic neuropathic pain. The majority of the reviews (11/13) were rated as high quality, two acceptable quality, and the NMA was rated as sufficient. Overall, the quality of the studies included in the systematic reviews was mainly very low to low, with a high (or unclear) risk of bias, making our confidence in the conclusions less than if the included studies were of consistently high quality.

4.2.1 Pain severity

In the majority of the reviews (10/13), small reductions in pain were reported compared with placebo, to a level unlikely to be of clinical significance (*see section 1.4.1*). Three reviews reported no statistically significant improvement in pain. In the NMA (up to 84 RCTs included 19,693 participants) cannabis reduced pain on a 0-10 scale, to a similar (small) extent as to that seen with opioids, with a weighted mean difference (WMD) 0.23 (-0.06 to 0.53).⁸⁴ Although cannabinoids were compared with opioids in the NMA, most comparisons were indirect, with the only RCT directly comparing an opioid (dihydrocodeine) to a cannabinoid (nabilone) finding a statistically significant improvement in pain severity for dihydrocodeine compared with nabilone in people with neuropathic pain.⁹³

In a high-quality living systematic review and meta-analysis (minimum of one month of follow up), a number of different preparations were included, with a reported mean difference (MD) in pain severity (0–10 scale) ranging from -0.54 (95% CI -0.95 to -0.19; 7 trials, 702 participants) to -1.97 (95% CI -5.91 to 1.21; 2 trials, 294 participants) for cannabis products compared with placebo).⁸¹

Meta-analysis of longer-term observational studies (up to 12 months) found that reductions in pain intensity did not meet predefined criteria of clinical significance with a WMD of pain intensity reduction of 1.75 (95% CI 0.72 to 2.78; 6 trials, 2,571 participants) on a 0–10 scale, compared with placebo,⁸⁰ with a further meta-analysis finding no evidence of sustained benefit in terms of reduced pain intensity, beyond 6 months.⁸¹

None of the four systematic reviews that focussed on chronic neuropathic pain, found a clinically significant reduction in pain severity (SMD -0.26, 95% CI -0.42 to -0.10; 9 trials, 1,289 participants),⁸² SMD -0.44 (95% CI -0.69 to 0.19; 8 trials, 893 participants),⁸⁶ (SMD -0.35 (-0.60 to -0.09; 14

1++ 1+

2++

trials, 1,837 participants),⁸⁷ and MDs (0–100 scale) ranging from -6.62 (95% CI -9.15 to -4.09; 5 trials, 552 participants) for THC/CBD to -8.68 (-10.97 to -6.38; 7 trials, 332 participants) for THC⁸⁸ with a calculated number-needed to treat of 20 (11–100) for one person to benefit from a 50% reduction in pain.⁸⁷

4.2.2 Function, quality of life and sleep

Seven systematic reviews^{79-81,84,88-90} reported on the effect of cannabinoids on functional abilities (eg physical, emotional, social), with three of those finding very small to small benefits for physical function for cannabinoids compared with placebo. For example, one review found a MD (0-10 scale) ranging from -0.42 (95% CI -0.73 to -0.16; 6 trials, 616 participants) to 1.75 (95% CI -0.46 to 3.98; 1 trial, 16 participants) for function for cannabis-based products compared with placebo, depending on the formulation of the cannabinoid.⁸¹ A further review found a WMD of 2.52 (95% CI 0.37 to 4.91; 44 trials, 12,727 participants) for cannabis compared with placebo (0–100 scale, SF-36).⁸⁴ A systematic review of observational studies found moderate benefits of cannabis on disability compared with placebo (fair-quality evidence), with a SMD 0.45 (95% CI 0.05 to 0.88; 5 trials, 2,201 participants).⁸⁰ There was a little effect of cannabis compared to opioids for physical functioning, with a WMD 0.47 (95% CI -1.97 to 2.99; 44 trials, 12,727 participants) on a 0-100 scale (SF-36).84

Evidence on Quality of Life (QoL) was inconsistent, with either minor 1++ benefits (one study)⁸⁰ or no benefit (6 studies)^{79,81,83,86-88} reported when 1+ compared with placebo, with low-quality evidence. 2++

For people experiencing neuropathic pain, there was a small, but statistically significant improvement in sleep quality (SMD 0.40, 95% Cl 0.19 to 0.61; 6 trials, 744 participants (0–10 scale)) in the one review where sleep quality was a primary outcome. However, there were also increases in daytime somnolence (SMD 2.23, 95% Cl 1.32 to 3.74; 7 trials, 867 participants), nausea (OR 1.66, 95% Cl 1.22 to 2.27; 7 trials, 867 participants) and dizziness (OR 3.80, 95% Cl 2.52 to 5.73;7 trials, 867 participants).⁸⁶

4.3 Evidence of harms

There was consistent reporting of an increase in adverse effects for cannabinoids compared with placebo at levels likely to be of clinical significance. Adverse effects described were extensive, and included sedation, daytime somnolence, anxiety, mood disorder, suicidal thoughts and nausea/vomiting.

One systematic review reported relative risk (RR) for dizziness ranging from 2.52 (95% CI 1.20 to 4.82) to 8.34 (95% CI 4.53 to 15.34); and RR for sedation from 1.60 (95% CI 1.01 to 2.95) to 5.04 (95% CI 2.10 to 11.89), for different cannabinoids compared with placebo.⁸¹

In a further systematic review, pooled event rates for all-cause adverse events were 81.2% for cannabinoids compared with 66.2% for placebo,

1++ 1+ 2++ Sufficient relevance, sufficient credibility with a number needed to harm (NNTH) of 6 (95% CI 5 to 8; 10 trials, 1,959 participants).⁸⁹ A Cochrane review of neuropathic pain found that nervous system adverse events were higher in people receiving cannabis-based medication compared with placebo (61% vs 29%, Risk Difference 0.38 (95% CI 0.18 to 0.58; 9 trials, 1,304 participants)).⁸⁷ One high-quality review of 39 observational studies which included 12.143 participants. median duration 24 weeks (interquartile range 12 to 33.8 weeks)),⁹² used long-term and serious harms from cannabinoids as the primary outcome. Prevalence of any adverse events was 26% (95% CI 13.2% to 41.2%) with a prevalence of psychiatric adverse events of 13.5% (95% CI 2.6% to 30.6%). Evidence was of low quality, with high risk of bias. Prevalence of serious adverse events was lower at 1.2% (95% CI 0.1 to 3.1) with very low-quality evidence.

Four systematic reviews specifically considered dependence or psychosis as secondary outcomes.^{79,80,87,94} One review identified a single 32-week open-label extension study (n=124) where one participant displayed mild signs of cannabis dependence. There was no other evidence reported in any of the other studies on dependence. Many of the studies in the systematic reviews excluded people with dependence/substance use issues, or psychosis/ severe mental health problems.

4.4 Summary of benefits and harms of medicinal cannabis for chronic pain

In conclusion, although there were some statistically significant small reductions in pain severity, there was no strong evidence of clinically relevant pain reduction for cannabinoids. Overall, there was no improvement in quality of life, or clinically significant improvement in function. Whilst one review found a small improvement in sleep quality there was also an increase in daytime somnolence and other adverse effects.

The evidence for increased adverse effects/ harms for cannabinoids compared with placebo was consistent (in all the reviews which reported on this (except one⁸²), with generally much larger effect sizes than found for any benefits. A wide range of harms were reported, (even in short- to medium-term studies) including sedation, anxiety, dizziness and nausea. There was insufficient evidence to comment on long-term dependence or mental health issues.

While the systematic reviews were mainly of high quality, the included studies had limitations in quality and risk of bias.

4.5 Other factors

Whilst there are a considerable number of clinical studies on medicinal cannabis, from a broad geographical area, and a range of research groups/ institutions, there are a number of major limitations with these studies, including:

1++ Duration: The majority of the studies included in the reviews were of 1+ short duration, with only six observational studies identified that had

follow up for >6 months and the majority of RCTs having follow up for <6 months. As chronic pain is a long-term condition, longer term follow up is needed to ensure studies reflect the clinical population.

- Comorbidities were not consistently reported, with many of the studies identified in the systematic reviews excluding people with a history of substance use, and major medical diseases, including mental health conditions. Reporting on dependency and substance use was limited, and often not specifically reported.
- Risk of bias, where assessed, was moderate to high, and study quality was very low to low in the majority of studies included in the systematic reviews. All the authors of one systematic review on neuropathic pain declared links with the manufacturers of nabiximols.⁸² Of the 16 studies included in the Cochrane review on cannabis in neuropathic pain, 12 declared potential conflicts or funding from the manufacturers of the studied drugs.⁸⁷ There was overlap of inclusion of these studies with other systematic reviews.
- Only two of the reviews specifically mentioned input from people with lived experience, who were included on the guideline panels.^{90,92}
- **R** Medicinal cannabis-based products are not recommended for routine use in the management of chronic pain. This takes into consideration the very limited evidence of clinically significant improvements in pain or wider impact (function/ QoL), combined with consistent evidence of adverse effects/ harms.

5 Antidepressants

5.1 Introduction

Chronic pain is common in adults and can negatively impact upon physical ability, wellbeing, and quality of life.^{95,96} Antidepressants have been used in the management of some chronic pain conditions, with mixed evidence of benefit for pain reduction and patient-reported efficacy.^{97,98}

Depression and chronic pain are often interconnected, with pain symptoms worsening depression and depression causing pain and many symptoms overlapping within these clinical diagnoses (for example, fatigue and loss of motivation or pleasure in activities).

Antidepressants are indicated for treatment of depression but are often used off-label in the management of other conditions. Antidepressant medications may relieve both pain and depression through shared neurotransmitter pathways in the brain, hence there may be individuals with undiagnosed or unrecognised mood disorders where the beneficial effect on pain may be mediated by improvement in mood. Evidence-based guidelines, including from NICE and SIGN, have recommended a range of antidepressants for different populations with chronic pain.⁹⁹⁻¹⁰²

In Scotland, antidepressants, particularly amitriptyline and other tricyclic antidepressants are frequently used as first-line agents in the treatment of chronic pain conditions, particularly neuropathic pain, fibromyalgia-type conditions and general chronic musculoskeletal type conditions such as mechanical low back pain.

5.2 Evidence of benefit

A large Cochrane NMA assessed the effectiveness and safety of antidepressants compared with placebo or any active comparator for pain management and included 176 RCTs involving 28,644 adult participants (mean age 50.6 years, 68.3% were female) with fibromyalgia, neuropathic pain, musculoskeletal or other types of chronic pain. Study duration ranged from two weeks to nine months, with an average duration of 10 weeks. Only six of the 176 trials included long-term follow-up data and the authors were unable to draw any conclusions on the long-term efficacy or safety of antidepressants. It is worth noting that the NMA includes some studies of medications which are not available in the UK.¹⁰³

Primary outcomes of benefit were substantial (50%) reduction in pain, pain intensity, and mood. Secondary outcomes were moderate reduction in pain (30%), physical function, sleep, quality of life, Patient Global Impression of Change (PGIC), serious adverse events, and withdrawal.

While study populations were similar to the target populations in Scotland, the authors note that most studies did not include people with anxiety or depression. All results and rankings were based on comparison of each antidepressant with placebo.

Sufficient relevance, sufficient credibility

Duloxetine was consistently the highest-ranked antidepressant for pain

relief, pain intensity, physical function and quality of life outcomes (although not significantly different from placebo in terms of quality of life). Both standard and high-dose duloxetine were equally effective for most outcomes. Milnacipran was often ranked second among the antidepressants, although the certainty of evidence was lower than for duloxetine. There was insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the effectiveness or safety of any other antidepressant.

Compared with placebo, standard-dose (60 mg) duloxetine showed a small to moderate effect on substantial pain relief (odds ratio (OR) 1.91, 95% CI 1.69 to 2.17; 16 studies, 4,490 participants, moderate-certainty evidence) and pain intensity (SMD -0.31, 95% CI -0.39 to -0.24; 18 studies, 4,959 participants, moderate-certainty evidence). High-dose (>100 mg) milnacipran had a small effect on substantial pain relief (OR 1.72, 95% CI 1.13 to 2.62; 1 study, 384 participants, low-certainty evidence). Standarddose (100 mg) milnacipran had a small effect on pain intensity (SMD -0.22, 95% CI -0.39 to 0.06; 4 studies, 1,866 participants, moderate-certainty evidence).

Duloxetine (OR 1,79, 95% CI 1.67 to 1.91; 24 studies, 7,833 participants, moderate-certainty evidence) and milnacipran (OR 1.70, 95% CI 1.48 to 1.92; 7 studies, 3,056 participants, moderate-certainty evidence) had a small effect on moderate pain relief. Standard-dose duloxetine (SMD -0.24, 95% CI -0.32 to -0.18; 15 studies, 3,887 participants, high-certainty evidence), high-dose (>60 mg) duloxetine (SMD -0.23, 95% CI 0.30 to 0.16; 13 studies, 3,503 participants, moderate-certainty evidence) and standard-dose milnacipran (SMD -0.18, 95% CI -0.30 to -0.07; 3 studies, 1,840 participants, moderate-certainty evidence) had small effects on physical function. No antidepressant showed a significant effect on quality of life (low- or very low-certainty evidence).

Due to small sample sizes and network sparseness the authors were unable to analyse results across different pain conditions but note that there is no high-quality or high-certainty evidence for the efficacy of amitriptyline, desipramine, desvenlafaxine, imipramine, mirtazapine, nortriptyline, or venlafaxine for any of the included outcomes. They note that this aligns with previous systematic reviews in participants with neuropathic pain which showed no high-quality evidence for the efficacy of amitriptyline, desipramine, imipramine, milnacipran, nortriptyline, or venlafaxine¹⁰⁴⁻¹⁰⁹ but moderate-quality evidence that duloxetine is effective for people with diabetic peripheral neuropathy.⁹⁷ For people with fibromyalgia, systematic reviews have reported no unbiased evidence that amitriptyline, desvenlafaxine, venlafaxine, or SSRIs were better than placebo.^{110,111} and low-certainty evidence that duloxetine, milnacipran, and mirtazapine may yield moderate pain relief.¹¹¹ The authors suggest that the previous literature is mixed on the efficacy of antidepressants for musculoskeletal pain.¹⁰³

5.3 Evidence of harms

Adverse events were recorded as a primary outcome of harm, while

secondary outcomes included serious adverse events, and withdrawal.

The NMA was unable to draw any conclusions about the safety of antidepressants for treating chronic pain because adverse event data were sparse and studies were underpowered to detect them. Adverse event rates for the highest-ranked antidepressants (desvenlafaxine and mirtazapine) were not significantly different from placebo but were based on results from only two studies each. Standard- and high-dose duloxetine and standard-dose milnacipran were equally ranked.¹⁰³

Low-dose (<60 mg) duloxetine, high-dose milnacipran, standard-dose (25-75 mg) amitriptyline, and standard-dose (4-8 mg) esreboxetine were the lowest-ranked antidepressants, and people taking each of these drugs had more than double the odds of reporting an adverse effect compared with people receiving placebo.

Sufficient relevance, sufficient credibility

No antidepressants showed any significant difference for the outcome of serious adverse events when compared with placebo, and the confidence intervals were very wide.

Nortriptyline, mirtazapine, amitriptyline, desvenlafaxine, and venlafaxine all showed no significant difference compared with placebo for withdrawal. Duloxetine, milnacipran, esreboxetine, desipramine, and paroxetine all showed significant effects, ranging from small to moderate. The authors note that conclusions on the ranking of the individual drugs for this outcome were unreliable due to all antidepressants having wide and overlapping credible intervals.

All safety evidence had very low certainty.

Physiological or psychological drug dependency were not assessed in the NMA, although it is possible they were considered as adverse events.

5.4 Summary of benefits and harms of antidepressants for chronic pain

The NMA results and rankings are limited to comparisons of each antidepressant with placebo. There are no head-to-head comparisons of antidepressants reported. This is probably because of the size and complexity of the network. In some analyses in the NMA, pharmacological interventions were split into dose categories (low, standard and high) to address between-study heterogeneity.

Duloxetine probably has a moderate effect on reducing pain and improving physical function in the short term, with no evidence of longer term effects. Higher doses of duloxetine probably provide no extra benefits than standard doses. Milnacipran may reduce pain but had a smaller effect and was supported by less evidence. It is not possible to draw conclusions about the effectiveness of any other antidepressant. There was very low certainty evidence for all safety outcomes for all antidepressants and it is not possible to draw conclusions about the safety of any antidepressant prescribed for the management of chronic pain.

5.5 Other factors

Historically, antidepressants have been used to manage chronic pain conditions with tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs), commonly recommended as a treatment option for chronic pain. Most of the studies from which these recommendations were derived were small and not adequately powered.

However, there is also a lack of evidence to suggest that antidepressants have no value as a treatment option for some people who continue to experience chronic pain symptoms and clinicians should consider each person in their individual circumstances and chronic pain experience.

The use of duloxetine as a treatment option for patients with chronic pain in Scotland is feasible. Prescribers should be aware that the Scottish Medicines Consortium has accepted duloxetine for restricted use for the treatment of diabetic peripheral neuropathic pain in adults as second or third-line therapy (see section 10.4).

Milnacipram is not routinely available in the UK.

R Clinicians should consider a trial of 60 mg duloxetine in people with chronic pain which is not adequately managed by analgesics.

Adopting a person-centred approach is critical. Pain is a very individual experience, and certain medications may work for people at an individual level even while the research evidence at population level is inconclusive or unavailable.

Prescribers should engage in shared decision-making conversations and codevelop a management plan in partnership with the individual.

6 Pain management programmes

6.1 Introduction

Pain Management Programmes (PMPs) are a fundamental resource provided by secondary care pain services within NHSScotland. They exist as an intervention of choice when there is significant impact on physical, psychological or social function associated with chronic pain.¹⁰⁰

Pain Management Programmes involve multidisciplinary working between various professionals – often physiotherapists, occupational therapists, clinical nurse specialists, psychologists and specialist doctors. Typically, this exists within secondary care settings and are deemed Comprehensive Pain Management Programmes (CPMPs). Integrated Pain Management Programmes (IPMPs) may also exist when the service is provided within primary care.¹¹² The guideline development group were not aware of any IPMPs operating within pain services in Scotland.

PMPs often consist of methods that promote long-term behavioural change. This may include methods based on cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), acceptance-based methods, mindfulness, skills training, physical exercise and education. This is highly person-centred and tailored to each participants ability and social context. These skills are then taken home and integrated into daily routine. Generally, but not exclusively, PMPs are provided in a group format.¹¹²

Currently, the demand for Pain Management Programmes is high. They require significant resources given the number of healthcare professionals involved, and the time taken per patient.¹¹³ It is imperative to assess their effectiveness on up-to-date evidence review and ensure adequate value for users of services within NHSScotland.

Within research, the guideline development group (GDG) recognises that PMPs are often treated as simple, one-off interventions, and the outcome measures used are comparable to those used to evaluate the effect of pharmacological treatments. In practice, PMPs are designed to improve quality of life in the presence of persistent pain.¹¹² Benefits that patients report, or alternative outcomes, following completion of a PMP are not always reflected in changes in the outcome measures used in published research. Addressing some of these questions and finding gaps in the measured outcomes was felt an important part of this review.

6.2 Definitions

A range of definitions of PMPs is available.

<u>The British Pain Society</u> defines the aims, methods and delivery of Pain Management Programmes within the UK. They consider a PMP to be a "group treatment which uses education and practice sessions to help people with chronic pain to manage their pain and everyday activities better... usually will have a psychologist and a physiotherapist providing most of the sessions and other staff such as occupational therapists, nurses and doctors are often involved".¹¹⁴ They note that PMPs aim to improve the life experience, emotional wellbeing, activity levels, coping and self efficacy of those living with pain.

The IASP, whilst not using the term PMP, defines interdisciplinary treatment as "Multimodal treatment provided by a multidisciplinary team collaborating in assessment and treatment using a shared biopsychosocial model and goals. For example: the prescription of an antidepressant by a physician alongside exercise treatment from a physiotherapist, and cognitive behavioural treatment by a psychologist, all working closely together with regular team meetings (face to face or online), agreement on diagnosis, therapeutic aims and plans for treatment and review".¹¹⁵

NICE guideline NG193 on chronic pain (primary and secondary) in over 16s: assessment of all chronic pain and management of chronic primary pain defined a PMP as "any intervention that has two or more components including a physical and a psychological component delivered by trained people, with some interaction/co-ordination between the 2".¹⁰⁰

Published research evidence use a range of definitions for PMPs, for example a Cochrane systematic review of multidisciplinary biopsychosocial rehabilitation for chronic low back pain included multidisciplinary rehabilitation interventions if they "involved a physical component and one or both of a psychological component or a social/work targeted component. Furthermore, the different components had to be delivered by clinicians with different professional backgrounds, but no specific professional backgrounds were required".¹¹³

After reviewing the existing definitions and considering the most important requirements for PMPs in the Scottish context, the GDG agreed on the following definition of a PMP. Literature searches and recommendations in this guideline are based on these criteria.

A PMP involves interventions which are:

- psychologically informed (eg has components such as cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) and/or pain neuroscience education (PNE)).
- comprised of multiple interventions delivered concurrently (eg exercise or physical activity, CBT, PNE, medication review).
- delivered in a group setting, either face-to-face or remotely (eg online).
- typically run over several sessions or weeks.
- led by healthcare professionals from more than one professional group (eg allied health professional, doctor, psychologist).

The systematic literature review to identify evidence for PMPs identified 2,800 potential evidence sources. Screening titles and abstracts reduced this to 25. After full-text screening, 24 were excluded: 21 did not meet the SIGN GDG definition of a PMP, and three were excluded after comparison with the 2021 review from the US Agency for Healthcare Research and

Quality (AHRQ).¹¹⁶ Randomised controlled trials from the excluded three reviews were mostly included in the prioritised review, which drew similar conclusions and added no further useful evidence for PMPs.

6.3 Evidence of benefit

One high-quality systematic review with meta-analysis was selected to provide evidence on the effectiveness of PMPs.¹¹⁶ This review included 57 RCTs (of low to moderate quality) that compared PMPs with a variety of alternatives (usual care, wait list or attention control, physical therapy, psychological therapy and combinations of these). Eight studies examined IPMPs (based in primary care) and 49 studies examined CPMPs (not based in primary care). Concerns about bias were low.

Some of the included RCTs investigated IPMPs delivered both in group and individual settings. There was limited evidence investigating different programme factors and their impact on outcomes. Given this inconsistency, that many IPMPs do not meet the British Pain Society's definition of a PMP and that services providing IPMPs do not exist in Scotland currently, it was decided to limit the analysis to CPMPs only.

While evidence for a wide variety of musculoskeletal pain conditions is considered (chronic low back pain, chronic neck pain, osteoarthritis of the knee, hip, or hand and fibromyalgia), and musculoskeletal pain is one of the most common pain symptoms, other pain conditions are not represented within this evidence base.

6.3.1 Comprehensive Pain Management Programmes compared with usual care

Overall, CPMPs resulted in a small improvement in pain post-intervention (MD -0.53 on a 0 to 10 scale, 95% CI -0.80 to -0.25; 11 RCTs, 764 participants; moderate strength of evidence). At short- (1 to <6 months), intermediate- (\geq 6 to <12 months) and long-term (\geq 12 months) follow up, the difference was below the threshold for small effects, was not statistically significant, or both.¹¹⁶

CPMPs resulted in moderate improvements in function compared with usual care or waitlist at post-intervention follow-up (SMD -0.52, 95% CI -0.88 to -0.16; 13 RCTs, 981 participants) and short-term follow up (SMD -0.62, 95% CI -1.02 to -0.24; 7 RCTs, 1,097 participants). Heterogeneity was high with I² values over 80% and the strength of evidence was assessed as low. There was no evidence of a difference at intermediate and long-term follow-up timepoints.

CPMPs resulted in a small effect on depression compared with usual care at short-term follow up (SMD -0.48, 95% CI -0.89 to -0.08; 5 RCTs, 543 participants). A statistically significant effect was not reported post intervention, nor sustained at intermediate- or long-term follow up.

Based on two trials, there was no evidence of an effect of CPMPs on health-related quality of life as assessed by SF-36 physical component summary (PCS) or mental component summary (MCS) scores.

6.3.2 Comprehensive Pain Management Programmes compared with physical

act	. 17	1111/
au	.I V	ILV

6.3.3

There was no significant difference in pain intensity between CPMPs and physical activity at any time point.¹¹⁶

A small improvement in short-term function was identified in those participants receiving CPMP (SMD -0.37 95% CI -0.61 to -0.16: 3 RCTs. 459 participants). There was no evidence of benefit post intervention or at intermediate- or long-term follow up.

There were no statistically significant differences in the severity of depression between CPMPs and physical activity post intervention, at intermediate- or long-term follow-up timepoints.

There were no statistically significant differences in health status between CPMPs and physical activity measured by the SF-12 or SF-36 PCS and MCS at post intervention and long-term follow-up timepoints.

Comprehensive Pain Management Programmes compared with pharmacological therapies

There was moderate improvement in pain scores for CPMPs compared with pharmacological therapy post intervention (pooled MD -1.28, 95%) CI -2.14 to -0.63; 2 RCTs, 204 participants), and a small improvement at intermediate-term follow up (pooled MD -0.84, 95% CI -1.64 to -0.15; 2 RCTs, 265 participants). Strength of evidence was low. There was no difference seen at short- and long-term follow up.¹¹⁶

While there was no effect of CPMPs on function compared with pharmacological therapy post intervention, small improvements were reported at short-term (SMD -0.37, 95% CI -0.67 to -0.08; 2 RCTs, 342 participants), intermediate-term (SMD -0.44, 95% CI -0.67 to -0.22; 3 RCTs, 453 participants) and long-term (SMD -0.46, 95% CI -0.76 to -0.16; 2 RCTs, 301 participants) timepoints. Strength of evidence was low to moderate.

Evidence on the impact of CPMPs on health status and measures of psychological wellbeing compared with pharmacologic therapy alone are limited. Studies using different assessment measures report conflicting findings.

Comprehensive Pain Management Programmes compared with psychological therapies

There were no statistically significant differences between CPMPs and psychological therapies found for pain, function, health-related quality of life or depression at any timepoint.¹¹⁶

Comprehensive Pain Management Programmes compared with combined 6.3.5 pharmacological and physical therapies

There was conflicting evidence for an effect on pain from two RCTs on CPMPs compared with combined pharmacological and physical therapies. In one fair-quality RCT involving people with fibromyalgia, CPMP was associated with moderate improvements in Multidimensional Pain Inventory (MPI) pain intensity (differences -1.2 to -2.1 on a 0 to 6 scale)

1++

6.3.4
and MPI pain interference (differences -1.9 to -2.5 on 0 to 6 scale) at post intervention, intermediate-, and long-term timepoints. Only antidepressants were prescribed in this trial. In contrast, the poor-quality trial in patients with low back pain reported no difference in pain between groups post intervention (difference 0.93, 95% CI -0.19 to 2.1, on a 0 to 10 scale). Medications in this trial included diclofenac, paracetamol, and omeprazole.

There were no statistically significant differences in function between CPMPs and combined pharmacological and physical therapies reported in either of two RCTs.

There was conflicting evidence for an effect on depression from two RCTs on CPMPs compared with combined pharmacological and physical therapies. Small improvements in MPI affective distress (0 to 6 scale) favouring CPMP were seen post intervention, intermediate term, and long term (differences -1.9 to -2.3) in one trial. In contrast, no difference in emotional distress based on the Profile of Mood States Short Version (POMS-SV) was seen in the other trial post intervention.

6.4 Evidence of harms

There were limited reports of adverse events for CPMPs (3 RCTs reported increased pain due to the intervention, and 1 RCT reported an adverse event due to the intervention without further details). Reporting adverse events is inconsistent and lacks detail across the evidence.¹¹⁶

Since CPMPs encourage participants to carry out any movements or activities within a range that is safe and sustainable for them, harms directly related to participation would not be anticipated.

6.5 Summary of benefits and harms of pain management programmes

While the clinical significance in many of the reported outcomes is uncertain (see section 1.4.1), the GDG noted that results demonstrated that CPMPs were either significantly more effective or as effective as most comparators. The GDG also noted the low levels of harms reported and were aware that the published evidence may not capture all key benefits of PMPs due to reliance on measures of pain and function, rather than self efficacy and agency. The GDG also noted that the reported effect sizes of benefit were small and mostly limited to people with musculoskeletal pain conditions which limits generalisability and lowers confidence in the strength of recommendation. The guideline development group concluded that there was enough benefit from CPMPs to justify a conditional recommendation in their favour.

There remains a lack of qualitative outcomes examined in this review, nor of acceptability, cost analysis or how suitable CPMPs are for most people with chronic pain in Scotland. The GDG acknowledged that the evidence review process for this guideline was focused on analysis of systematic reviews, and that there may be surveys and focus groups presented in national meetings by PMP teams but which remain unpublished.

6.6 Other factors

Though large in landmass, Scotland's population is geographically dispersed, with 17% living in rural areas, which renders challenges to operating PMPs over such a large area.¹¹⁷ The guideline development group discussed the different technologies and modes of delivery, as well as potential barriers to accessing PMPs. Innovative use of technology, as became common during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, is already being used by some pain services.

Qualitative outcomes were not examined and there was limited perspective from people with lived experience available. Based on their clinical experience, the GDG felt that there were other benefits associated with providing CPMPs for healthcare professionals working in pain services, such as learning as part of the multidisciplinary team and innovation and research through interdisciplinary relationships.

R Following multidisciplinary assessment within secondary care, consider offering Comprehensive Pain Management Programmes as a treatment for people with chronic pain.

7 Psychological interventions

7.1 Introduction

Psychological factors, alongside biological and social factors, are known to inform the experience of pain. People's beliefs, understanding and responses to living with pain may contribute to their experiences of distress and disability.^{118,119}

Psychological therapies may be useful in addressing the complexity of the pain experience. The benefits of psychological therapies are described in language and concepts that are considered active in terms of response and control, in contrast to passive and catastrophising behaviours and responses. Although psychological therapies do not have big data sets of evidence, they reflect Engel's biopsychosocial model, which is the gold standard model to understand chronic pain and challenges the concept of mind-body dualism (which has the potential for stigmatisation of secondary pain experiences).^{120,121}

However, the mind-body dualistic thinking remains prevalent and people who live with pain have often waited a long time to access pain services which may lead to poor confidence in or mistrust of healthcare provision.¹²² Hence, it is important that the benefits of psychological therapies are presented clearly with a strong focus on being person-centred.

Evidence-based national guidelines on management of chronic pain have previously recommended acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) and/or cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) alongside pain management programmes, self-management programmes and mindfulness-based interventions.^{100,102} Further information about delivery of psychological interventions for people with chronic pain in Scotland is available in <u>the Matrix - a guide to delivering evidence based psychological therapies and interventions in Scotland.</u>

7.2 Definitions

Cognitive behavioural therapy is an approach to engaging with how people think and behave in response to pain. CBT is founded on core principles related to addressing faulty thinking and unhelpful behaviours that result from living with pain (<u>https://www.apa.org/ptsd-guideline/patients-and-families/cognitive-behavioral</u>).

Acceptance and commitment therapy is a form of psychotherapy that encourages people to accept their thoughts and feelings related living with pain, to identify what they cannot control and put their energy into positive actions that enrich their lives. Outcomes targeted by ACT clinicians tend to focus on an increase in acceptance and in engagement with valued activities, rather than disability or distress.

(https://dictionary.apa.org/acceptance-and-commitment-therapy).

Mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR) is a group intervention that seeks to reframe a person's relationship to pain through detached self-

observation. It relies on training in mindfulness meditation to cope with stress, illness and pain.¹²³

Biofeedback is a form of operant conditioning where people learn how to modify some of their behavioural responses to improve their health. (<u>https://dictionary.apa.org/biofeedback</u>)

Relaxation is a non-pharmacological treatment which is increasingly accepted as an intervention for managing pain. The use of relaxation techniques may promote feelings of wellbeing and calmness. (https://dictionary.apa.org/relaxation-therapy)

7.3 Evidence of benefit

7.3.1 Cognitive behavioural therapy

A Cochrane systematic review with meta-analysis investigated the effectiveness of CBT and ACT delivered face-to-face for people with chronic pain.¹²⁴ The most frequently included pain conditions were fibromyalgia (19 studies), chronic lower back pain (16 studies), mixed chronic pain conditions (15 studies), rheumatoid arthritis (9 studies), osteoarthritis (5 studies) and temporomandibular disorder (4 studies). CBT was compared with either treatment as usual (TAU) which included participants being placed on a waiting list or an active control. Active comparators included exercise programmes, medical procedures, education or support group.

When compared with treatment as usual, CBT resulted in a small benefit in pain intensity (SMD -0.22, 95% CI -0.33 to -0.10; 29 trials, 2,572 participants), disability (SMD -0.32, 95% CI -0.45 to -0.19; 28 trials, 2,524 participants) and distress (SMD -0.34, 95% CI -0.44 to -0.24; 27 trials, 2,559 participants) at the end of treatment. The certainty of the evidence was moderate for pain and distress and low for disability.¹²⁴

When compared with an active comparator CBT resulted in very small benefits in pain (SMD -0.09, 95% CI -0.17 to -0.01; 23 trials, 3,235 participants), disability (SMD -0.12, 95% CI -0.20 to -0.04; 19 trials, 2,543 participants) and distress (SMD -0.09, 95% CI -0.18 to -0.00; 24 trials, 3,297 participants) at the end of treatment for people with chronic pain. Benefits were statistically significant but owing to the range of measurement scales used it was not possible to assess clinical significance. The certainty of the evidence was moderate. Benefits to pain and disability at end of treatment did not persist when outcomes at follow up of 6 months or more were considered. There was moderate certainty evidence of a small reduction in distress at follow up (SMD -0.13, 95% CI - 0.25 to -0.01; 16 trials, 1,757 participants).¹²⁴

A further Cochrane systematic review with meta-analysis examined the effectiveness of remote psychological therapies for people with chronic pain.¹²⁵ The majority of studies were in people with chronic back pain, fibromyalgia or mixed chronic pain populations. Interventions were scalable to a large group of people with chronic pain, delivered primarily through technology (such as web-based and smartphone apps and virtual

7.3.2

reality) and involved less than 30% contact time with a clinician. Remote CBT resulted in small benefits in pain intensity (SMD -0.28, 95%) CI -0.39 to -0.16; 20 trials, 3,206 participants, moderate certainty evidence) and functional disability (SMD -0.38, 95% CI -0.53 to -0.22; 14 trials, 2,672 participants, low certainty evidence) compared with TAU at the end of 1++treatment. There was very low certainty evidence of no benefit on quality of life. The benefits on pain intensity did not persist at follow up of three to 12 months. There were no statistically significant benefits on functional disability or quality of life at follow up.¹²⁵ Remote CBT resulted in a small reduction in pain intensity (SMD -0.28, 95% CI -0.52 to -0.04; 3 trials, 261 participants, moderate certainty evidence) compared with active control. There was no evidence of benefit for functional disability or quality of life. Based on very low certainty evidence there was no difference between interventions at follow up.125 Acceptance and commitment therapy When compared with treatment as usual ACT resulted in a large benefit on pain intensity at the end of treatment (SMD -0.83, 95% CI -1.57 to -0.09; 2 trials, 162 participants). The certainty of evidence was very low. No evidence was reported regarding the outcome of disability or distress. One small study (104 participants) assessed as being very low certainty reported that ACT produced a large benefit in reducing pain intensity at six months follow up, (MD -1.10, 95% CI -1.51 to -0.69).¹²⁴ 1++ When compared with active comparators at the end of treatment there was no evidence of benefit on pain intensity (SMD -0.25, 95% CI -0.63 to 0.12; 5 trials, 385 participants) or distress (SMD -0.30, 95% CI -0.70 to 0.10; 5 trials, 385 participants). The certainty of the evidence was very low. At follow up, the finding was similar for pain intensity and for distress but for disability there was very low certainty evidence of a large benefit (SMD -1.22, 95% CI -2.28 to -0.17; 2 trials, 156 participants).124 For remote ACT compared with TAU there was no evidence of benefit on outcomes of pain intensity (four trials) or functional disability (two trials). In both cases evidence was assessed as very low certainty. Findings were similar for follow up at three to 12 months.¹²⁵ 1++ For remote ACT compared with active comparator therapies only one study was identified providing very low certainty evidence of likely no benefit on pain intensity at the end of treatment. Based on two trials there

was very low certainty evidence of likely no benefit on quality of life at end of treatment. At follow up only one small trial (50 participants) was identified which provided low certainty evidence of no benefit on quality of life.¹²⁵

7.3.3 Mindfulness based stress reduction

A network meta-analysis compared CBT with MBSR for the outcomes of pain intensity, physical functioning and depression in adults with chronic pain. The review identified 21 studies, which mostly involved participants with fibromyalgia and chronic low back pain.¹²⁶ Nine trials were rated as

poor quality.

Only one study in the network directly compared CBT with MBSR for pain intensity. Thirteen studies compared CBT with control and five studies compared MBSR with control. When the direct and indirect evidence (1,364 participants) was combined there was no evidence of a difference between the therapies (SMD 0.02, 95% Credible Interval (CrI) -0.43 to 0.48).

Only one study in the network directly compared CBT with MBSR for function. Eleven studies compared CBT with control and five studies compared MBSR with control. When the direct and indirect evidence (1,320 participants) was combined there was no evidence of a difference between the therapies (SMD -0.02, 95% Crl -0.49 to 0.42).

Only one study in the network directly compared CBT with MBSR for depressive symptoms. Nine studies compared CBT with control and six studies compared MBSR with control. When the direct and indirect evidence (1,306 participants) was combined there was no evidence of a difference between the therapies (SMD -0.06, 95% Crl -1.08 to 0.47).

In one large systematic review and meta-analysis of non-pharmacological treatments for chronic pain, there was no evidence of benefit at short term on pain from MBSR compared with usual care or attention control (where the control group completes some activities but they are not the same in intensity, time and/or contacts as the intervention activities; activities may or may not be similar to usual care) (MD -0.88, 95% CI -1.82 to 0.08; 5 studies, 630 participants, moderate certainty evidence).¹²⁷ When two poor-quality trials were excluded from the analysis there was a small statistically significant improvement in short-term pain (MD -0.68, 95% CI -1.29 to -0.28; 3 studies, 546 participants, moderate certainty evidence). One study provided evidence of improved pain at intermediate term (MD -0.75, 95% CI -1.16 to -0.34; 229 participants, low certainty evidence).

For short-term function there was low certainty evidence that MBSR had no clear effect (SMD -0.14, 95% CI -0.51 to 0.02; 4 trials, 581 participants) when compared with usual care or attention control. Individual trials found no evidence of benefit for MBSR on intermediate or long-term function.

7.3.4 Biofeedback

The systematic review of non-pharmacological treatments for chronic pain identified insufficient and inconsistent evidence for biofeedback in people with fibromyalgia. Four small, poor-quality trials were identified.¹²⁷ Due to the wide range of function scales used, no meta-analysis could be conducted. Three of these studies reported no difference in function between people receiving biofeedback or attention control. The fourth trial (40 participants) compared biofeedback with escitalopram and reported improved mean Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire scores at 4-5 months follow up and a statistically significant improvement in pain score of -2.7 on a visual analogue scale.

7.3.5 Relaxation

1++

1++

The systematic review of non-pharmacological treatments for chronic pain identified one poor-quality study on progressive relaxation therapy compared with usual care which showed no evidence of benefit on pain or function in people with chronic lower back pain. A further fair-quality trial found no difference in pain (0-10 scale) or function (0-80 scale) in the short or intermediate term between relaxation training and no intervention or exercise for people with chronic neck pain.¹²⁷

7.4 Evidence of harms

7.4.1 Cognitive behavioural therapy

Cochrane reviews report that adverse event data for psychological therapies in chronic pain were only recorded in a few studies and were not collected in a consistent manner. Minor events such as temporary pain exacerbation were noted. In one study of remote CBT there was an increase in adverse events, including increased pain, in the intervention group (RR 6.00, 95% CI 2.2 to 16.40; 140 participants, very low certainty evidence).^{124,125}

7.4.2 Acceptance and commitment therapy

Two studies reported that there were no adverse effects linked to ACT compared with active controls.¹²⁴

7.4.3 Mindfulness based stress reduction

In the systematic review comparing MBSR with usual care or attention control one trial reported temporarily increased pain in 29% of people undergoing MBSR, and three trials reported no harms.¹²⁷

7.4.4 Biofeedback

No evidence of harm was reported.

7.4.5 Relaxation

No evidence of harm was reported.

7.4 Summary of benefits and harms of psychological interventions for chronic pain

CBT, delivered either in-person or remotely, can yield small improvements in pain intensity in the short term which are not sustained over time. Inperson CBT can also improve functional disability in the short term. ACT delivered in person may reduce pain compared with usual care but is no more effective than active comparators.

MSBR may have similar short-term effects on pain and function to CBT. There is no evidence of benefit of biofeedback or relaxation interventions.

The GDG noted that few harms of psychological therapies were reported, and felt most interventions to be low risk, although there is a lack of clarity on what constitutes an adverse event for psychological therapies, which may persist long term. They felt that although not the target of treatment, psychological interventions may also support individuals' mental health and were aware that many people with chronic pain are affected by mood disorder comorbidities.

7.5 Other factors

Studies included in the cited systematic reviews used a wide range of controls or TAU conditions, such as waitlists, standard care, active treatments and attention controls, which makes drawing conclusions difficult.

None of the systematic reviews or included trials reported on the inclusion or involvement of people with lived experience. Hence there is limited information available to judge the perspectives or preferences of people living with chronic pain.

Management of chronic pain involves multidisciplinary healthcare teams which can include psychology, nursing, physiotherapy, occupational therapy, pharmacy, medical and administrative staff.¹²⁸ For the face-to-face interventions, all studies reported delivery of the intervention by a psychologist or trainee psychologist under supervision of a psychologist. The GDG discussed that in NHSScotland healthcare professionals from other disciplines may deliver some psychological interventions in line with the competency-based approach described in the Matrix. The GDG wished to reinforce the workforce competencies and skills framework, which categorises CBT and ACT within the <u>specialist / enhanced</u> types of psychological practices. Depending on local arrangements, further appropriate training may be required before delivering the interventions.

- **R** Offer CBT (either face-to-face or remotely) to adults experiencing chronic pain.
- **R** Consider offering face-to-face ACT to manage chronic pain in people where there is a preference for an acceptance approach to pain.
- ✓ CBT and ACT should be delivered either by a psychologist or trainee psychologist under supervision of a psychologist.
- **R** Consider offering MBSR (regardless of delivery mode) to manage chronic pain in people where there is a preference for mindfulness approaches to pain.

8 Self-help interventions

8.1 Introduction

Self-management is seen as a cornerstone of chronic pain care.¹⁰⁰ Within the NHS, these skills are often imparted by physiotherapists in outpatient settings and by multidisciplinary pain management programs in secondary care. These programs typically involve a multidisciplinary team of pain consultants, specialist nurses, occupational therapists, pharmacists, physiotherapists, and psychologists.

Barriers exist to people's engagement with secondary care pain management programs.¹²⁹ Logistical challenges, including transportation difficulties, reliance on public transport, the costs associated with private vehicle use and parking, the navigation of hospital grounds, poor mental health or dependence on family or friends may pose hurdles.¹³⁰

The resources in specialised pain management healthcare services within the NHS may pose another challenge. Consequently, waiting times for pain management programs are often protracted.¹³¹ These limitations suggest a need for innovative solutions to improve the accessibility and effectiveness of pain management support for individuals living with chronic pain.

The guideline development group sought evidence on a range of interventions which involve no or minimal ongoing healthcare professional input and which are self-led, with or without intermittent supportive contact (see Annex 1). Evidence was only identified on peer support and digital self-management interventions.

8.2 Peer support interventions

Peer support has been defined as "the giving of assistance and encouragement by an individual considered 'equal' as part of a created network or intervention by 'peers' who are trained to deliver the intervention.¹³²

In the context of chronic pain, the evidence base for peer support is weak, making it challenging to draw definitive conclusions about its benefits and harms.

8.2.1 Evidence of benefit

One systematic review with meta-analysis was identified which examined the effectiveness of peer support interventions for adults with chronic musculoskeletal pain.¹³² Twenty-four RCTs were included, all of which were rated at high or unclear risk of bias leading to all outcomes having low or very low certainty of evidence.

When compared with usual care (9 trials) there was no evidence of benefit of peer support on pain intensity at short term (up to three months) but at medium (four to nine months) and long term (longer than nine months) peer support resulted in small reductions in pain intensity. At medium term the scale of this was in the range of 0.35 to 6.61 points on a 100-point scale. There was no evidence of effect for peer support on pain intensity compared with waitlist control (8 trials) or active control (7 trials) at any follow-up timepoint.

When compared with usual care (9 trials) there was no evidence of benefit of peer support on function in the short or medium term. In the long term peer support was superior to usual care; SMD -0.10 (95% CI -0.19 to 0.00; 5 trials, 1,730 participants). When this measure was back-converted to the function subscale of the Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC) the degree of benefit (2.06 points) did not reach the minimal clinically important difference of 9 points on a 0 to 68 scale (*see section 1.4.1*). There was no evidence of effect for peer support on function compared with waitlist control (6 trials) or active control (3-4 trials) at any follow up timepoint.

Four studies compared peer support with usual care and found no significant effect on quality of life at any time point. Only one study compared peer support with waitlist for quality of life. While there were significant improvements in quality of life at six weeks, these were not sustained at six months. Two studies compared the effect of peer support on quality of life with active control. One reported significant improvement in quality of life whilst the other found no significant effects.

8.2.2 Evidence of harm

The systematic review did not report outcome data on adverse effects. The guideline development group noted the potential for harm in people who may be managing chronic pain themselves attributing misinformation or providing unhelpful advice. They also discussed that delivery of peer support interventions may place a burden on individuals which could represent a harm over time, and suggested that providers should establish support mechanisms to avoid this.

8.2.3 Other factors

Peer support may offer a rewarding experience for both the individuals providing and receiving support, according to qualitative and nonrandomised evidence supplied by Pain Concern and Pain Association Scotland and their representatives. Self efficacy (how able you feel you are to manage your condition), depression, anxiety and specific task-related outcomes were felt to be more relevant outcomes to this intervention than pain intensity and function.

Testimony from people with chronic pain on peer support interventions includes:

- This pain course has helped and given me such hope in such subtle ways. Amazed, such a big improvement in helping me to manage my pain better on a day-to-day basis. (Person with lived experience after attending a Pain Association Scotland self-management course)
- *Proof you're not alone* (Feedback following sessions led by Pain Concern).

1++

8.2.4 Summary of benefits and harms for peer support interventions

Evidence in people with chronic musculoskeletal pain showed that peer support interventions may provide a small benefit on pain intensity in the medium and long term and on function in the long term compared with usual care. No evidence was identified on people with other pain types, such as neuropathic or visceral pain which may have distinct underlying mechanisms and treatment responses, which limits the generalisability of these findings. The guideline development group noted that there may be additional benefits of peer support interventions that have not been captured in this evidence. For example, both peer supporters and recipients may experience benefits such as increased self efficacy, a sense of agency, reassurance, access to information, and improved selfmanagement skills.

No evidence was identified on adverse effects of these interventions, however the guideline development group discussed the burden of care on peer supporters. There is a risk that peer supporters, who may themselves be managing the condition, could inadvertently offer unhelpful advice or misinformation in unsupervised settings while struggling with their own challenges.

R Peer support interventions should be considered as part of the holistic and individualised management for people with chronic musculoskeletal pain.

✓ Services providing peer support pain management interventions should establish mechanisms for monitoring and supporting individuals delivering peer support.

8.3 Self-management interventions

There is no 'gold standard' definition of self management, but it may be broadly interpreted as the day-to-day tasks an individual may undertake to control or reduce the impact of a disease on physical or psychological health status. Self management describes the individual's ability to manage symptoms, treatment, physical and psychological consequences and lifestyle changes associated with a chronic condition.¹³³ While the guideline development group sought information on a wide range of selfmanagement approaches (see Annex 1), evidence was only identified on digital self-management tools.

Three systematic reviews, all published in 2023, were identified.¹³⁴⁻¹³⁶ Intervention definitions varied across the reviews as did the populations of interest. The three reviews encompassed a total of 48 trials. Two trials were common to all three reviews. There was inconsistency across the reviews as to the quality ratings assigned to the trials reflecting the subjective nature of critical appraisal and the different tools used.

8.3.1 Evidence of benefit

One systematic review examined the effectiveness of digital self-care

interventions for pain and function in people with spine musculoskeletal disorders (neck pain, back pain or low back pain).¹³⁴

In meta-analysis of ten out of 20 RCTs of people with chronic back pain, there was a small but statistically significant benefit of digital self-care interventions on pain intensity post-treatment; SMD -0.19 (95% CI -0.28 to -0.09; 9 trials, 1,775 participants) and small-to-moderate benefits on pain intensity at medium term; SMD -0.21 (95% CI -0.33 to -0.08; 5 trials, 940 participants) and at long term; SMD -0.24 (95% CI -0.37 to -0.11; 4 trials, 908 participants) compared with usual care. For functional disability there were small benefits of the digital self-care interventions post-treatment SMD -0.18 (95% CI -0.26 to -0.10; 9 trials, 2,513 participants) and at medium term; SMD -0.13 (95% CI -0.24 to -0.02; 4 trials, 1,207 participants) and long term SMD -0.14 (95% CI -0.25 to -0.04; 4 trials, 1,452 participants).

Meta-analysis of the three RCTs of neck pain was not undertaken due to high heterogeneity (I²=89%). Of these, two studies had positive and statistically significant findings for pain and function (clinical significance not stated) and one reported no evidence of benefit on pain.

A second systematic review explored the effectiveness of mobile health (mHealth) interventions on pain, function and quality of life for people with a range of chronic pain conditions.¹³⁵ mHealth interventions were diverse and apps included combinations of the following components:

- monitoring and tracking of physical activity and healthy lifestyle goals
- symptom monitoring
- treatment delivery (such as physical activity programmes, cognitive behavioural therapy and pain education).

Meta-analysis was not undertaken due to the heterogeneity across the study interventions and outcome measures, therefore results were presented narratively in terms of statistically significant benefit or no difference per RCT. The most frequent pain conditions were osteoarthritis, lower back pain and neck pain. Intervention duration ranged from 4 to 24 weeks and follow up from none (measures at end of intervention) to six months.

Separately, for pain intensity and for functional disability, ten of the 17 studies assessing each outcome reported statistically significant effects for mHealth interventions compared with controls. Two and one of these studies, respectively, were at high risk of bias. The extent and clinical significance of the benefits was not assessed. Six of 15 studies which assessed quality of life found benefits for mHealth interventions. One of these was at high risk of bias.

A third systematic review with meta-analysis examined the effect of digital self-management interventions (either using a digital intervention accessible via smartphone/smartwatch/tablet/computer or internet browser, or using a guided or unguided self-management technique) on various aspects of pain (intensity, catastrophising and

1++

1+

1++

interference/disability) for people with chronic low back pain.¹³⁶

In meta-analysis of 12 RCTs there was a small improvement in pain intensity post-treatment as a result of the digital self-management intervention (SMD 0.24, 95% CI 0.09 to 0.40; 12 trials, 1,545 participants). Pain interference (which encompassed pain disability) showed a small-tomoderate improvement as a result of the intervention (SMD 0.43, 95% CI 0.27 to 0.59; 11 trials, 930 participants). There was no statistically significant benefit on pain catastrophising. When all three pain concepts were combined into one measure there was a small-to-moderate positive effect of the intervention (SMD 0.33, 95% CI 0.17 to 0.49; not stated). Sensitivity analysis identified that this positive effect was lost when only studies at low risk of bias were included (SMD 0.08, 95% CI -0.18 to 0.34; not stated).

8.3.2 Evidence of harm

The systematic reviews noted that most included trials did not present adverse event data, and one review did not evaluate harms.¹³⁶ Where events were reported, they were mainly related to increase in pain associated with increased physical activity.

8.3.3 Other factors

The widespread adoption of digital interventions may exacerbate existing health inequalities. Individuals with limited digital literacy, access to technology, or reliable internet connectivity may be excluded from these services, potentially widening the gap in healthcare access. Furthermore, the profit-driven nature of commercial interventions' development raises ethical concerns regarding the prioritisation of financial gain over optimal patient outcomes. The guideline development group also noted that it was not always clear how digital tools maintained the security of individual's data and expressed concern about data privacy.

The GDG noted that NHSScotland digital facilitators deliver an important role in transforming healthcare for those who lack access to technology. Facilitators:

- deliver support to clinical staff and service users to build their confidence and ability to join virtual programmes and interventions.
- work with library service colleagues to support those without devices or connectivity. There are some loan schemes in operation.
- work with organisations who deliver digital interventions to help them reach those who lack access to technology.

The feasibility of delivering digital self-management interventions as a prescribed treatment option has not been evaluated. While they may potentially reduce the need for certain healthcare resources, the initial costs of funding access to individuals and supporting their use must be considered.

Given the wide range of digital interventions reviewed, assessing their specific feasibility and economic impact in real-world Scottish settings is complex. Further research is needed to identify practical barriers and

facilitators to implementation, as well as to evaluate the cost effectiveness of these interventions.

Summary of benefits and harms of self-management interventions for chronic 8.3.4 pain

Digital self-management interventions have a small effect on reducing pain intensity and functional disability with little evidence of harms. As these interventions most commonly involve exercise and physical activity, education and CBT, potential benefits and harms are likely to be associated with the facilitation of these interventions (see section 7).

The effectiveness of digital interventions may vary across different chronic pain conditions. While promising results have been observed in musculoskeletal pain, further research is needed to evaluate their efficacy in other chronic pain conditions, such as neuropathic pain or fibromyalgia and to clarify optimal delivery pathways.

R Digital self-management interventions should be considered as part of the holistic and individual management of chronic musculoskeletal pain.

✓ As digital self-management tools can, in themselves, be a barrier to practising self care for people who do not have access to, or are not able to use, digital tools, hybrid models of care, whereby they receive support from a digital facilitator or healthcare professional that encourages them to self care, should be available.

Data security measures should be clearly explained to people in an easyto-understand way, fostering trust and transparency. When recommending digital support interventions for chronic pain management, it is crucial to prioritise safety and trust in people with lived experience.

Robust measures must be in place to ensure the confidentiality and security of all patient data.

9 Occupation-based interventions

9.1 Introduction

What constitutes a meaningful activity will vary from person to person, and might include hobbies, exercise, social activities or employment (paid and voluntary). Chronic pain can hinder people engaging in meaningful activities, affecting their self-care, productivity and/or leisure occupations. Occupation-based interventions in the context of chronic pain support individuals to engage in meaningful activities even in the presence of pain. Occupation is defined by the <u>World Federation of Occupational Therapists</u> as 'the everyday activities that people do as individuals, in families and with communities to occupy time and bring meaning and purpose to life'.

Reducing pain intensity is not an intended outcome of occupation-based interventions, although some may report changes in their pain experience. These interventions help individuals identify valued activities and align well with the ACT model of psychological flexibility. Engagement in meaningful activities can support improvements in areas such as mood, motivation, independence, routine and sense of purpose. Activity management interventions, informed by pain science, can improve a person's ability to do more over time despite ongoing pain.

Occupational-based interventions are often part of wider programmes of self-management input (in a secondary care pain service, and/or a tertiary level PMP) and can be difficult to measure their impact as stand-alone interventions. They vary in delivery and tend to be person-centred, making objective comparison challenging.

9.2 Evidence of benefit

Three systematic reviews on the effectiveness of occupation-based interventions for chronic non-malignant pain were identified. These focused on pacing,¹³⁷ return to work (RTW)¹³⁸ and sleep hygiene.¹³⁹ While sleep hygiene was initially included in the search parameters, after review of this evidence, the GDG noted that it aligns more closely with sleep-focused interventions than occupation-based ones. A review of the sleep hygiene evidence base would be best carried out alongside non-pharmacological sleep interventions for people with chronic pain which falls outside of the remit of this guideline, and this systematic review was not considered further.

After excluding sleep hygiene, the evidence base consisted of 18 RCTs across two intervention areas (RTW and pacing). The evidence was inconclusive due to variations in study design, RTW and pacing definitions, and intervention delivery formats, making it difficult to support any specific RTW or pacing approach for people with chronic pain. In addition, occupational performance and participation in meaningful activities were not an outcome focus for these trials.

A systematic review of 13 RCTs examined the effectiveness of RTW

1+

interventions from sick leave for people with chronic pain.¹³⁸ The primary outcome was RTW which was measured in a range of ways including number of days per month without receipt of sickness benefit, self-reported return to occupation, early retirement rates and cessation of wage loss. Most of the studies involved multiple components and there was a wide range of control conditions. Duration of intervention and follow up also varied and heterogeneity across the studies meant that meta-analysis was not possible.

Five of the 13 studies showed statistically significant improvements in RTW however three of these five studies were assessed at being at high risk of bias.

A narrative systematic review of 5 RCTs examined the effectiveness of pacing as a learned strategy for people with chronic pain.¹³⁷ Meta-analysis was not possible due to heterogeneity in interventions and outcome measures. Based on three studies which reported pain outcomes, the review concluded that pacing as a learned strategy does not significantly reduce pain in people with chronic pain due to osteoarthritis or fibromyalgia. The GDG note that this finding is in line with expectations as the aim of this intervention is improved function rather than pain reduction and none of the interventions used an occupation-based approach in which pacing was implemented practically within an occupation under the guidance of a therapist.

An additional literature search at RCT level identified no studies on other occupation-based interventions, including energy conservation strategies, postural and positional strategies, sensory integration strategies, therapeutic education and disease self-management training, advocacy skills development, community reintegration strategies, environmental adaptations/equipment provision, and engagement in meaningful daily activity/meaningful occupation.

9.3 Evidence of harms

There are limited reports of adverse events in the occupation-based intervention evidence base. One RTW trial focusing on CBT resulted in delayed RTW versus usual care. Findings highlight a need to consider RTW intervention effectiveness and potential hinderance or delay of RTW.¹³⁸

Since occupation-based interventions encourage people to engage in selfidentified movement and activities in a way that is within their capacity, it would not be anticipated for harm to be directly related to these interventions. 1+

1+

9.4 Other factors

The GDG discussed issues relating to the design and implementation of research studies in the field of RTW and pacing interventions. They acknowledged that focusing RTW interventions purely on the primary outcome of return to work is reductive and risks excluding other important benefits. They considered that returning to the same work doing the same hours may not necessarily be the 'good' outcome for an individual, and noted that acceptance, considering values and quality of life or returning to meaningful activities (such as caring for grandchildren or helping at a community club) can lead to people enacting changes in their work and personal lives. Linking people with employability services can aid career changes and training needs. Confidence and satisfaction in work roles can be more accurate indicators of occupational outcomes.

<u>A UK government website</u> acknowledges the link between employment and health and states 'there is clear evidence that good work improves health and wellbeing across people's lives, not only from an economic standpoint but also in terms of quality of life'. It defines good work as 'having not only a work environment that is safe, but also having a sense of security, autonomy, good line management and communication within an organisation.' Conversely a difficult work environment and unsupportive management can lead to increased stress and pressure and be unhelpful to an individual's pain management.

The GDG discussed that pacing interventions delivered from a symptom reduction compensatory approach can lead to functional decline and increased activity avoidance. When pacing interventions are delivered in such a way and interpreted as being limited to taking breaks, slowing down activities and spacing out tasks this alone does not encompass the many facets involved in the activity management occupation-based intervention. This may lead to clinicians unintentionally supporting activity restrictions and limitations that may then reduce function rather than improve function. There is value in occupation-based interventions being delivered by clinicians with knowledge of facilitating conversations around planning, grading, chunking, alternating and monitoring activity underpinned by acceptance, awareness psychologically informed methods.

9.5 Summary of benefits and harms of occupation-based interventions for chronic pain

The low volume of evidence with inconsistent findings is insufficient to support recommendations. Variations in study designs, heterogeneity across studies, and differences in RTW and pacing definitions impact on generalisation to the wider chronic pain population. Even in the context of low volume evidence, expert clinicians acknowledge that work and activity dysregulation issues are common amongst the chronic pain population and to not address these issues would mean disregarding needs identified by people with lived experience.

The evidence base shows little to no evidence of harm related to

occupation-based interventions. Expert clinicians highlight areas for consideration for measuring RTW interventions and for the delivery of pacing (activity management) interventions.

- ✓ Clinicians should be aware that activity management (pacing) interventions focused on symptom reduction may inadvertently lead to greater activity avoidance. However, activity management interventions which are underpinned by a values-based approach, pain science education, and delivered by psychologically-informed clinicians may encourage greater activity engagement, improving both occupational performance and satisfaction.
- ✓ The term "pacing" is too narrow to fully capture the scope of activity management interventions. Clinicians are encouraged to move away from exclusively using the label "pacing" and instead adopt terms like "activity management" or "activity regulation". These terms better encompass the many facets involved in the intervention.
- ✓ Clinicians and people living with chronic pain should understand that occupation-based interventions are not intended to reduce pain. Instead, these interventions aim to increase occupational performance and satisfaction, participation in life roles, participation in social functioning, and engagement in personally meaningful occupations within the domains of self-care, productivity and leisure
- ✓ Clinicians delivering work-related occupational interventions to individuals with chronic pain should adopt a holistic approach, considering both performance and satisfaction in relation to employment and wider life roles. The intervention may include, but not be limited to addressing:
 - quality of life,
 - satisfaction with work life balance,
 - confidence and ability to communicate needs in the workplace,
 - support in negotiating reasonable adjustments,
 - the ability to regulate during and outside working hours,
 - confidence to manage flare-ups and work absences, and
 - balancing life roles alongside work and chronic pain management.

10 Implementing the guideline

This section provides advice on the resource implications associated with implementing the key clinical recommendations, and advice on audit as a tool to aid implementation.

10.1 Implementation strategy

Implementation of national clinical guidelines is the responsibility of each NHS board, including health and social care partnerships, and is an essential part of clinical governance. Mechanisms should be in place to review care provided against the guideline recommendations. The reasons for any differences should be assessed and addressed where appropriate. Local arrangements should then be made to implement the national guideline in individual hospitals, units and practices.

Quality improvement methodologies can be used locally to implement the guidelines. The <u>Quality Improvement Journey</u> contains generic advice and tools to use quality improvement methods to support local implementation. NHS Education for Scotland also delivers the <u>Scottish Improvement</u> <u>Leaders</u> programme and <u>Scottish Quality and Safety Fellowship</u> programme to develop individuals to lead local implementation projects to improve the quality of care.

Implementation of this guideline will be encouraged and supported by SIGN. The implementation strategy for this guideline encompasses the following tools and activities.

10.2 Resource implications of key recommendations

No recommendations are considered likely to reach the £5 million threshold which warrants resource impact analysis.

10.3 Auditing current practice

A first step in implementing a clinical practice guideline is to gain an understanding of current clinical practice. Audit tools designed around guideline recommendations can assist in this process. Audit tools should be comprehensive but not time consuming to use. Successful implementation and audit of guideline recommendations requires good communication between staff and multidisciplinary team working. CONTENT IN DEVELOPMENT

10.4 Health technology assessment advice for NHSScotland

In August 2006, the Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC) advised that duloxetine (Cymbalta®) is accepted for restricted use for the treatment of diabetic peripheral neuropathic pain in adults. It is restricted to initiation by prescribers experienced in the management of diabetic peripheral neuropathic pain as second- or third-line therapy.

https://scottishmedicines.org.uk/media/1590/duloxetine cymbalta 285 06. pdf

11 The evidence base

11.1 Systematic literature review

The evidence base for this guideline was synthesised in accordance with SIGN methodology. A systematic review of the literature was carried out using an explicit search strategy devised by a Healthcare Improvement Scotland Information Scientist. Databases searched include Medline, Embase, PsycINFO and the Cochrane Library. The year range covered was 2018–2024. Internet searches were carried out on various websites for relevant guidelines. The main searches were supplemented by material identified by individual members of the development group. Critical appraisal of relevant evidence was carried out by Healthcare Improvement Scotland Health Service Researchers or NHS Research Scotland (NRS) Pain external researchers. Each of the selected papers was evaluated by two researchers using standard SIGN methodological checklists before conclusions were considered as evidence by the guideline development group.

The search strategies will be available on the SIGN website, <u>www.sign.ac.uk</u> when this guideline is published.

11.1.1 Literature search for lived-experience issues

At the start of the guideline development process, a Healthcare Improvement Scotland Information Scientist conducted a literature search for qualitative and quantitative studies that addressed issues on the management of chronic pain relevant to people with lived experience of chronic pain. Databases searched include Medline, Embase, Cinahl and PsycINFO, and the results were summarised by the SIGN Patient Involvement Advisor and presented to the guideline development group. Group members were also made aware of a report published by the Health and Social Care Alliance Scotland (the ALLIANCE). As the national third sector intermediary for health and social care, in 2021 the Scottish Government asked the ALLIANCE to conduct a survey that would be used to inform their ongoing work on chronic pain policy. Based on responses gathered from 462 people, the report describes how chronic pain impacts their day-to-day life, the level of importance placed on public information about chronic pain and how to access support.¹⁴⁰ Key points are summarised in section 1.1.1

11.2 Recommendations for research

The guideline development group was not able to identify sufficient evidence to answer all of the key questions asked in this guideline (see Annex 1). The following areas for further research have been identified:

Opioids

• Studies to quantify the risk of adverse events, including overdose and substance use disorder in people being prescribed opioids for pain management, and to develop accurate risk predication

instruments. These should include assessment of risks associated with co-prescribed medications.

- Studies of comparisons of benefits and harms experienced according to different personal and pain characteristics, and different types of opioid.
- Studies to determine effective risk mitigation strategies in people who are prescribed opioids.
- Studies to identify the efficacy and adverse events of long-term (>12 month) opioid use.
- Studies to identify optimal opioid tapering/de-prescribing strategies, type of support and services, that also assess the benefits and harms associated with de-prescribing.

Naloxone

- Studies to assess the impact of naloxone prescribing on the incidence of fatal and non-fatal overdose events in people prescribed opioids for chronic pain, with a particular focus on other factors that may increase an individual's risk of overdose (eg comorbidity, polypharmacy, demographics).
- Studies to evaluate the acceptability of naloxone use, including the willingness of this population and their families, and how this may change management of their chronic pain and use of opioids.

Antidepressants

- The safety and efficacy of antidepressants used for longer than three months in the treatment of chronic pain
- The safety and efficacy of antidepressants in people with chronic pain comparing effects between those with and without a diagnosis of clinical depression

Medicinal cannabis

- High quality RCTs with appropriate duration of follow up are needed to identify clinically relevant harms and benefits of medicinal cannabis in the treatment of chronic pain, with outcome measures aligned to IMMPACT recommendations. Where standard RCT designs may be inappropriate to adequately address the question(s) other robust trial designs should be considered.
- Studies to assess effects in specific populations, eg neuropathic pain; older adults; multimorbidity; polypharmacy.
- Longer term studies are needed to identify harms that may take time to develop such as dependence and mental health issues.
- Studies to assess potential interactions between different formulations of medicinal cannabis and medications commonly-used by people living with chronic pain.

Pain management programmes

- Studies to investigate how best to capture behavioural change following participation on a PMP. (In practice PMPs are designed to promote behavioural change in the service of improving quality of life in the presence of persistent pain. Changes that individuals report following completion of a PMP are often not reflected in changes in the outcome measures used to quantify effects in the historical research evidence. We know that individual items on the outcome measures we use can mean different things to people living with chronic pain and clinicians. The use of irrelevant outcome measures makes it harder to properly evaluate the role of PMPs).
- Studies are required to assess long-term clinical and cost effectiveness of PMPs measured in terms of effects on mood, anxiety, quality of life, medication usage, activity levels, fear of movement, disability, pain intensity, psychological flexibility and measures of primary and secondary healthcare utilisation, in addition to qualitative descriptions of change in activity, wellbeing and behaviour.
- The GDG is aware of individual UK PMPs having presented outcome data at national meetings but this valuable data is then not submitted or does not reach publication. We propose a collaborative research network of PMP providers within the UK. This pooled, multicentre and international approach may lead to better data for a wider variety of outcomes. A national audit is proposed using the audit points which will be suggested with this guideline.
- Further information is required on qualitative outcomes associated with PMPs. Published evidence commonly doesn't reflect lived experience of change and there is a need for greater incorporation of the perspective of people living with chronic pain, including local viewpoints which take into account cultural and societal differences.
- Further information is required on factors that affect the suitability of people for CPMPs, and how to target a population who are likely to benefit, and systematically comparing individual vs group-based PMPs to better understand how different modes of delivery, intervention components and dose characteristics influence outcomes and subjective experiences.

Psychological interventions

- In order to establish the generalisability of interventions, further highquality RCTs are needed which include adults with a wide variety of chronic pain conditions.
- Further studies are needed that include long-term follow-up periods of all outcomes (including acceptance and cost-effectiveness, where appropriate)
- In general, studies of psychological interventions should establish

greater standardisation of control conditions

- In general, further studies are needed using appropriate outcome measures that match the goals of the intervention (for example, daily functioning). More specifically, further studies are needed which assess acceptance and valued activity as outcome measures, as these better align with ACT focus.
- Further studies are needed to establish adverse events using clearer, consistent definitions and standardised reporting on adverse events (including long-term adverse events)
- Further studies are required that compare intervention delivery modes directly with each other (ie, face-to-face versus remote delivery, and delivery by psychologists versus non-psychologists)

Self-help interventions

- Research is needed to improve the understanding of the acceptability, engagement, and adherence in digital support interventions.
- Studies are needed to quantify the impact of peer support on both peer supporters and recipients, including emotional wellbeing, social connectedness, and quality of life, for both groups.
- Studies should examine the qualities and skills that contribute to successful peer support, such as empathy, active listening, and problem-solving abilities.
- Research should focus on designing and implementing effective training programs to equip peer supporters with the necessary knowledge and skills.
- Long-term follow-up studies are needed to assess the sustainability of the effects of peer support interventions and to measure any potential long-term benefits or harms.

Occupation-based interventions

- Further studies are required to establish the effectiveness of the wide range of occupation-based interventions.
- Further high-quality studies are required to establish the effectiveness of RTW interventions. Researchers should consider defining a core outcome set and/or comparative outcomes to be used in trials to enable comparability across multiple studies.
- Further studies in people with chronic pain who are unemployed and want to return to work, and people who are struggling to manage their pain condition while in work could help widen the literature base for subgroups where literature lacks.
- Further studies are required to capture the impact of RTW interventions on the person's satisfaction with their work-life balance and confidence to manage their pain condition in the workplace.

- Researchers should consider investigating activity pacing among populations with other types of chronic pain conditions beyond osteoarthritis or fibromyalgia to improve the generalisability of evidence. Also, to use valid and reliable outcome measures and justification of sample size to improve qualities of studies.
- Further studies of activity pacing for people with chronic pain are needed to investigate different intervention conditions such as length and frequency of intervention sessions. Also incorporating an occupation-based therapy approach.
- Additional research is indicated to investigate the effectiveness of pacing as a learned strategy in the activity and participation outcome domains in determining the impact that pacing can have on a person's ability to participate in daily occupational and life roles.

12 Development of the guideline

12.1 Introduction

SIGN is a collaborative network of clinicians, other healthcare professionals and patient organisations and is part of Healthcare Improvement Scotland. SIGN guidelines are developed by multidisciplinary groups of practising healthcare professionals using a standard methodology based on a systematic review of the evidence. Further details about SIGN and the guideline development methodology are contained in 'SIGN 50: A Guideline Developer's Handbook', available at www.sign.ac.uk

This guideline was developed according to the 2019 edition of SIGN 50 with the following adaptations. In their first meeting, the guideline development group agreed a set of key questions for review which was later packaged into smaller work programmes of 4-6 questions each, known as waves. Each wave proceeded with dedicated systematic literature searching, screening and selection, critical appraisal and evidence synthesis. For each wave, the guideline development group developed draft recommendations and guideline text which will be consulted on separately. This document contains information relating to waves one and two. The guideline development group will incorporate revisions based on feedback received at consultation and from editorial reviewers and the final version of each wave will be published online as a toolkit within the Right Decision Service, the 'Once for Scotland' source of digital tools that enable people to make safe decisions guickly, based on validated evidence. Although published individually over a period of time, the full set of digital materials for all waves assembled on the Right Decision Service will collectively represent the SIGN guideline on chronic pain.

12.2 The Guideline Development Group

Professor Lesley Colvin <i>(Chair)</i>	Chair of Pain Medicine, Honorary Consultant in Anaesthesia & Pain Medicine and Deputy Associate Dean, Research, Ninewells Hospital
Mr Fraser Bell	and Medical School, University of Dundee Interim Clinical Service Manager/Allied Health
	Professional Lead, Stobhill ACH, NHS Greater
Mrs Hazel Borland	Office Administrator, Fibromyalgia Action UK/Lived experience representative
Professor Line Caes	Associate Professor, University of Stirling
Professor Paul	Head of Community Health and Care,
Cameron	Clackmannanshire and Stirling Health and Social Care Partnership
Professor Sonia Aitken (Cottom)	CEO, Pain Association Scotland

Dr Katrina Dick	Consultant Anaesthetist, University Hospital, Ayr,
Dr Sarah Donaldson	Senior Clinical Pharmacist, NHS Tayside (until December 2024). Lecturer (Teaching &
	Research), School of Health Sciences, University
Professor Margaret	Associate Professor in Nursing & Pain
Dunham	Management, Edinburgh Napier University
Ms Emma Dow	General adult nurse/Adult Health Practitioner
Mrs Eiona Eastan	Health and Social Care Operations
	Therapeutics Division, Scottish Government
Miss Agnes Falconer	Lived experience representative
Dr Peter Foley Professor Patrice	Consultant Neurologist, NHS Lotnian
Forget	University of Aberdeen
Dr Steve Gilbert	Consultant in Anaesthetics and Pain Medicine.
	Belford Hospital, NHS Highland
Dr Lorraine Harrington	Clinical Lead Pain Medicine/Anaesthetic and Pain Medicine Consultant, NHS Lothian
Mrs Heather Harrison	Senior Prescribing Advisor, Central Prescribing Team, NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
Dr Marc Jacobs	General Practitioner Principal, Edzell Health Centre, Dundee
Dr Saravana	Consultant in Anaesthesia and Pain Medicine,
Mr Conor McAndrew	Lead Pharmacist Major Trauma Centre and
	Inpatient Management Service, Royal Infirmary of
Dr Louise Marshall	Clinical Psychologist, Ninewells Hospital, Dundee
Dr Kathryn R Martin	Senior Lecturer, University of Aberdeen
Mrs Tricia Mieduniecki Dr James Morton	Primary Care Clinical Pharmacist, NHS Borders GP Partner, Nithsdale Merryvale Group Practice,
	Glasgow
Dr Barbara Nicholi Dr Bator Bajalov	Senior Lecturer, University of Glasgow
Di Pelei Paisley	University Hospital, NHS Greater Glasgow &
	Clyde
Dr Christopher Pell	Consultant Psychiatrist, Royal College of
	Psychiatrists in Scotland, Edinburgh
Dr Colin Rae	Consultant in Anaesthesia and Pain
	Glasgow
Ms Nicola Rhind	Physiotherapist NHS Grampian and National
	Clinical Lead for Chronic Pain, Scottish
	Government
Ms Lorna Semple	Clinical Specialist Physiotherapist, NHS Greater
Dr Nicole Shaer	Glasyow & Glyde Palli Management Service General Practitioner, General Medical Council

Professor Blair Smith	Professor of Population Health Science,
	University of Dundee
Mrs Jennifer Taggart	Clinical Specialist Occupational Therapist,
	Scottish National Pain Management Programme,
	NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
Dr Jonathan Todman	Senior Clinical Psychologist, NHS Lothian
Ms Heather Wallace	Chief Executive, Pain Concern
Ms Gillian Ward	Clinical Specialist Occupational Therapist
	Scottish National Pain Management Programme
	and NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde Pain Service
Dr Lars Williams	Consultant in Anaesthesia and Pain Medicine
	New Victoria Hospital, Glasgow
Dr John Wilson	Consultant in Anaesthesia and Pain Medicine
	Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh

The membership of the guideline development group was confirmed following consultation with the member organisations of SIGN. All members of the guideline development group made declarations of interest. A register of interests is available on request from the SIGN Executive.

Critical appraisal of evidence and discussions on draft recommendations were supported by the following researchers from NRS Pain

Mr Paul Barratt	Lecturer and Deputy Programme Director, Clinical Management of Pain Programme, University of Edinburgh
Mrs Jenifer Dallas	Musculoskeletal Physiotherapist, Allied Health Professionals Team, NHS 24
Dr Chloe Fawns- Ritchie	Lecturer in Psychology, University of Edinburgh
Mr Tom Herbert	Physiotherapist & Research Assistant, Robert Gordon University
Dr Rebecca Hunter	Postdoctoral Researcher, University of Exeter
Ms Mia Koponen	PhD Student, University of Dundee Chronic Pain Research Group
Mrs Christine Pacitti	Baily Thomas Fellowship Doctoral Student/Mental Health Clinical Pharmacist Intellectual Disability, School of Health & Wellbeing, University of Glasgow
Dr Dhaneesha	Clinical PhD Fellow / Honorary Registrar in
Senaratne	Anaesthesia, University of Dundee / NHS Tayside
Mrs Julie Stewart	Senior Clinical Pharmacist, Pain Management NHS Ayrshire & Arran
Ms Ariane Sultana	Chronic Pain Nurse Specialist, NHS Highland
Dr Bhushan Thakkar	Postdoctorate Research Fellow, University of Dundee
Dr Lucy Whitaker	Senior Clinical Research Fellow and Honorary Consultant Gynaecologist, Centre for

Reproductive Health, Institute for Regeneration and Repair, University of Edinburgh

Guideline development and literature review expertise, support and facilitation were provided by SIGN Executive and Healthcare Improvement Scotland staff. All members of the SIGN Executive make yearly declarations of interest. A register of interests is available on request from the SIGN Executive.

Distribution Co-ordinator
Patient and Public Involvement Advisor
Publications Designer
Project Officer
Guideline Co-ordinator
Evidence and Information Scientist
Health Services Researcher
Health Services Researcher

12.2.1 Acknowledgements

SIGN is grateful to the following former members of the guideline development group and others who have contributed to the development of the guideline.

Ms Tracy Brown	Advanced Pharmacist (Primary Care),
	Prescribing Support Team, Glasgow
Ms Carrie Stewart	Research Fellow, University of Aberdeen

12.3 Consultation and peer review

A report of the consultation and peer review comments and responses will be published in the supporting material section for this guideline on the SIGN website. All expert referees and other contributors made declarations of interest and further details of these are available on request from the SIGN Executive.

12.3.1 Specialist reviewers invited to comment on this draft

Ms Thora Allan	Lived experience representative
Dr Andrew Bretherick	Consultant in Anaesthetics (Pain Medicine), NHS Tayside
Dr Claire Bridgestock	Consultant in Anaesthetics and Pain Medicine, NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
Mr Neil Clark	Chronic Pain Physiotherapist, NHS Borders
Ms Liz Colquhoun	Advanced Clinical Nurse Specialist, Nurse Prescriber, Pain Service, Ninewells Hospital, Dundee
Dr Andrew Crockett	Consultant in Anaesthetics and Pain Medicine, NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde

Dr Louise Davidson	Consultant Neurologist, NHS Lothian
Dr Kieran Dinwoodie	General Practitioner, Blantyre
Dr Betty Dube	Lecturer in Clinical Pharmacy Practice, Robert Gordon University
Ms Katie Earle-Payne	Pharmacist, NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
Professor Chris Eccleston	Professor of Medical Psychology and Pain Science and Director of the Centre for Pain Research, University of Bath
Dr Anna Graham	Clinical Psychologist, Pain Management, NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
Dr Lesley Green	Consultant in Anaesthetics and Pain Medicine, NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
Ms Sigrun Groves- Raines	Advanced Physiotherapy Practitioner in Pain Management, NHS Forth Valley
Dr Ingrid Hoeritzauer	Consultant Neurologist, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh
Professor Gareth Jones	Professor in Epidemiology, University of Aberdeen
Ms Laura Kenicer	Advanced Pharmacist (Primary Care), NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
Professor Edmund Keogh	Professor of Psychology and Deputy Director of the Centre for Pain Research, University of Bath
Ms Dorothy Kirkpatrick	Community Locum Pharmacist and Vice Chair of Scottish Pharmacy Pain Network, NHS Dumfries & Galloway
Mr Stuart Law	Policy Lead, Scottish Government Quality Prescribing Guide on Chronic Pain
Ms Emma Mair	Pain Management Physiotherapist, NHS Ayrshire and Arran
Dr Lisa Manchanda	Consultant in Anaesthetics and Pain Medicine and Regional Adviser in Pain Medicine, NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
Dr Jonathan McGhie	Consultant in Anaesthetics and Pain Medicine, NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
Dr James McGuinness	Consultant Anaesthetist, NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
Joanna McParland	Health Psychologist, Scottish Network of Pain Psychologists and Reader in Health Psychology, Glasgow Caledonian University
Dr Melanie Morrison	Consultant in Anaesthetics and Pain Medicine, NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
Ms Claire Muir	Specialist Physiotherapist, NHS Highland
Ms Zoe Newson	Clinical Nurse Manager, NHS Highland

Dr Ajit Panickar	Consultant in Anaesthetics and Pain Medicine, NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
Dr Krzysztof Pater	General Practitioner, Nairn
Mr Michael Pierson	Lived experience representative
Ms Fiona Scott	Senior Pharmacist, NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
Dr Mick Serpell	Consultant in Anaesthetics and Pain Medicine, NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
Ms Clare Smith	Occupational Therapist, Ayrshire & Arran Pain Management Service, NHS Ayrshire & Arran
Dr Dev Srivastasa	Consultant in Anaesthesia and Pain Medicine and Lead Clinician for Pain Management, Raigmore Hospital, Inverness
Ms Rosalyn Standish	Clinical Service Lead, Fife Pain Management Service, NHS Fife
Ms Diane Watson	Advanced Clinical Pharmacist, NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
Professor Daniel Whibley	Assistant Professor, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation and Honorary Lecturer in Applied Health Sciences, University of Michigan / University of Aberdeen
Dr Kirsty Wickerstaff	General Practitioner, Aultbea and Gairloch
Dr Iain Wilson	Clinical Lead, Scottish Government Quality Prescribing Guide on Chronic Pain

12.3.2 Public consultation

The draft guideline was also available on the SIGN website for a month to allow all interested parties to comment.

12.3.3 SIGN editorial group

As a final quality control check, the guideline is reviewed by an editorial group comprising the relevant specialty representatives on SIGN Council to ensure that the specialist reviewers' comments have been addressed adequately and that any risk of bias in the guideline development process as a whole has been minimised. The editorial group for this guideline was as follows. All members of SIGN Council make yearly declarations of interest. A register of interests is available on request from the SIGN Executive.

Dr Roberta James	SIGN Programme Lead; Co-Editor
Professor Angela	Chair of SIGN; Co-Editor
Timoney	
Dr Safia Qureshi	Diector of Evidence, Healthcare Improvement Scotland

Abbreviations

ACT	acceptance and commitment therapy
AHRQ	Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality
BNF	British National Formulary
CBD	cannabidiol
СВТ	cognitive behavioural therapy
CI	confidence interval
CNS	central nervous system
COVID-19	coronavirus disease 2019
СРМР	comprehensive pain management programme
Crl	credible interval
D&OUD	dependence and opioid use disorder
ED	emergency department
GDG	guideline development group
GDP	gross domestic product
GMC	General Medical Council
GP	general practitioner
HR	hazard ratio
IASP	International Association for the Study of Pain
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
IMMPACT	Initiative on Methods, Measurement and Pain Assessment in Clinical Trials
IPMP	integrated pain management programme
IR	immediate-release
IRR	incidence rate ratio
LOCF	last observation carried forward
MA	marketing authorisation
MBSR	Mindfulness-based stress reduction
MCID	minimum clinically-important difference
MCS	mental component summary
MD	mean difference
MED	morphine-equivalent dose
mHealth	mobile health

MOR	mu opioid receptor
MPI	Multidimensional Pain Inventory
MR	modified-release
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NMA	network meta-analysis
NNTH	number needed to harm
NRS	NHS Research Scotland
NSAID	non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug
ODI	Oswestry Disability Index
OR	odds ratio
OUD	opioid use disorder
PCS	physical component summary
PGIC	Patient Global Impression of Change
PMP	pain management programme
POMS-SV	Profile of Mood States Short Version
PNE	pain neuroscience education
PNS	peripheral nervous system
QoL	quality of life
RCT	randomised controlled trial
RDQ	Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire
RR	relative risk or risk ratio
RTW	return to work
SIGN	Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network
SMC	Scottish Medicines Consortium
SMD	standardised mean difference
SmPc	summary of product characteristics
SPACE	Strategies for Prescribing Analgesics Comparative Effectiveness trial
SUCRA	surface under the cumulative ranking curve
TAU	treatment as usual
TCA	tricyclic antidepressant
THC	tetrahydrocannabinol
USA	United States of America
VAS	visual analog scale

- WHO World Health Organization
- **WMD** weighted mean difference
- **WOMAC** Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index

Annex 1 Key questions addressed in this update

This guideline is based on a series of structured key questions that define the target population, the intervention, diagnostic test, or exposure under investigation, the comparison(s) used and the outcomes used to measure efficacy, effectiveness, or risk. These questions form the basis of the systematic literature search.

Guideline section	Key question	
2	1.	In people with chronic non-malignant pain are opioids more likely than placebo or other interventions to improve pain severity, functional ability, and/or quality of life, and/or to cause adverse events/drug reactions, or dependency (physiological or psychological)?
3	2.	Should naloxone be coprescribed when opioids are used for chronic pain (or when long-term/high-dose opioids are prescribed)?
4	3.	In patients with chronic non-malignant pain what is the effectiveness of medicinal cannabis compared with placebo or other interventions on pain scores (30% reduction and 50% reduction), functional ability, quality of life, adverse drug reactions or dependency (physiological or psychological)?
5	4.	In patients with chronic non-malignant pain what is the effectiveness of antidepressants compared with placebo or other interventions on pain scores (30% reduction and 50% reduction), functional ability, quality of life, adverse events/drug reactions or dependency (physiological or psychological)?
6	5.	In patients with chronic non-malignant pain, what is the effectiveness of pain management programmes (as defined in the guideline) compared with no treatment or other interventions on pain scores, functional ability, mood, quality of life and adverse events?
7	6.	In patients with chronic non-malignant pain what is the effectiveness of psychological interventions (cognitive behavioural therapy, acceptance and commitment therapy, mindfulness-based interventions, biofeedback or relaxation) compared with no treatment or other interventions on pain scores (30% reduction and 50% reduction), functional ability, mood, quality of life or adverse events?
8	7.	In patients with non-malignant chronic pain what is the effectiveness of patient and lay self-help advice compared with no treatment or other interventions on pain scores (30% reduction and 50% reduction), functional ability, quality of life or

		adverse events?
		Interventions were considered which had no or minimal ongoing healthcare professional input (which can potentially reach large numbers of patients) and which are generally self-led, with or without intermittent supportive contact, including
		• apps (mobile and web-based/mhealth, ehealth),
		computer-based programmes
		monitoring devices eg exercise trackers
		 automated reminders/ brief telephone support to follow programme or take actions
		bibliotherapy/advice booklets/manuals
		lay self-help or support groups, eg third-sector groups
		mentoring/support by peers.
9	8.	In patients with chronic non-malignant pain what is the effectiveness of occupation-based interventions on pain scores (30% reduction and 50% reduction), occupational performance, engagement in personally meaningful occupations, return to work rates, quality of life or adverse events?

Information relating to the following questions will be made available in future consultations

Not included in this draft	9.	In patients with chronic non-malignant pain what is the effectiveness of muscle relaxants compared with placebo or other interventions on pain scores (30% reduction and 50% reduction), functional ability, quality of life, adverse drug reactions or dependency (physiological or psychological)?
Not included in this draft	10.	In patients with chronic non-malignant pain what is the effectiveness of simple analgesics compared with placebo or other interventions on pain scores (30% reduction and 50% reduction), functional ability, quality of life, adverse events/drug reactions or dependency (physiological or psychological)?
Not included in this draft	11.	In patients with chronic non-malignant pain what is the effectiveness of topical analgesics compared with placebo or other interventions on pain scores (30% reduction and 50% reduction), functional ability, quality of life, adverse events/drug reactions or dependency (physiological or psychological)?
Not included in this draft	12.	In patients with chronic non-malignant pain what is the effectiveness of anti-epilepsy drugs compared with placebo or other interventions on pain scores (30% reduction and 50% reduction), functional ability, quality of life, adverse drug reactions or dependency (physiological or psychological)?
Not included	13.	In patients with chronic non-malignant pain what is the effectiveness of combination pharmacological therapies

in this draft		compared with single pharmacological therapies on pain scores (30% reduction and 50% reduction), functional ability, quality of life, adverse events/drug reactions or dependency (physiological or psychological)?
Not included in this draft	14.	In patients with chronic non-malignant pain what is the effectiveness of hands-on based interventions (manual therapies or massage) compared with comparator on pain scores (30% reduction and 50% reduction), functional ability, quality of life or adverse events?
Not included in this draft	15.	In patients with chronic non-malignant pain what is the effectiveness of hands-off based interventions (exercise, physical activity or mobility aids) compared with comparator (see table) on pain scores (30% reduction and 50% reduction), functional ability, quality of life or adverse events?
Not included in this draft	16.	In patients with chronic non-malignant pain what is the effectiveness of electrotherapy-based interventions (TENS, interferential, laser therapy, pulsed-shortwave diathermy, ultrasound, microcurrent therapy, or shockwave therapy) compared with comparator on pain scores (30% reduction and 50% reduction), functional ability, quality of life or adverse events?
Not included in this draft	17.	In patients with chronic non-malignant pain what is the effectiveness of other/alternative interventions (acupuncture, aromatherapy, homeopathy, herbal medicine, hypnotherapy, music therapy or Reiki) compared with comparator on pain scores (30% reduction and 50% reduction), functional ability, quality of life or adverse events?
Not included in this draft	18.	In patients with chronic non-malignant pain is there any evidence for the effectiveness of dietary interventions compared with usual care on pain scores (30% reduction and 50% reduction), functional ability, quality of life or adverse events?
References

- International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP). Definitions of Chronic Pain Syndromes. [cited 17 Feb 2025]. Available from url: <u>https://www.iasp-pain.org/advocacy/definitions-of-chronic-pain-syndromes/#:~:text=Chronic%20pain%20is%20pain%20that,diagnostic%20evaluation%2C</u>%20therapy%20and%20rehabilitation
- 2 Fayaz A, Croft P, Langford RM, Donaldson LJ, Jones GT. Prevalence of chronic pain in the UK: a systematic review and meta-analysis of population studies. BMJ Open 2016;6(6):e010364.
- 3 Elliott AM, Smith BH, Penny KI, Smith WC, Chambers WA. The epidemiology of chronic pain in the community. Lancet 1999;354(9186):1248-52.
- 4 Sjøgren P, Ekholm O, Peuckmann V, Grønbaek M. Epidemiology of chronic pain in Denmark: an update. Eur J Pain 2009;13(3):287-92.
- 5 Toblin RL, Mack KA, Perveen G, Paulozzi LJ. A population-based survey of chronic pain and its treatment with prescription drugs. Pain 2011;152(6):1249-55.
- 6 Ferreira ML, de Luca K, Haile LM, Steinmetz JD, Culbreth GT, Cross M, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of low back pain, 1990-2020, its attributable risk factors, and projections to 2050: a systematic analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2021. The Lancet Rheumatology 2023;5(6):e316-e29.
- 7 Maniadakis N, Gray A. The economic burden of back pain in the UK. Pain 2000;84(1):95-103.
- 8 Reginster JY. The prevalence and burden of arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2002;41 Supp 1:3-6.
- 9 Stubhaug A, Hansen JL, Hallberg S, Gustavsson A, Eggen AE, Nielsen CS. The costs of chronic pain-Long-term estimates. Eur J Pain 2024;28(6):960-77.
- 10 NHS Quality Improvement Scotland. Getting to GRIPS with chronic pain in Scotland: getting relevant information on pain services. Edinburgh: NHS Quality Improvement Scotland; 2008. [cited 18 Oct 2013]. Available from url: <u>http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/our_work/long_term_conditions/programme_resources/getting_to_grips_with_chronic.aspx</u>
- 11 Scottish Government. Pain management service delivery framework: implementation plan. Edinburgh; 2022. [cited 17 Feb 2025]. Available from url: <u>https://www.gov.scot/publications/framework-pain-management-service-delivery-</u> <u>implementation-plan/pages/4/</u>
- 12 The Health and Social Care Alliance Scotland. My path, my life, my right to live well. Glasgow: ALLIANCE; 2021. [cited 05 Feb 2025]. Available from url: <u>https://www.alliance-scotland.org.uk/blog/resources/my-path-my-life-my-right-to-live-well-report/</u>
- 13 Healthcare Improvement Scotland. Gathering views on chronic pain. Glasgow: Healthcare Improvement Scotland Community Engagement; 2023. [cited 05 Feb 2025]. Available from url: <u>https://www.hisengage.scot/chronic-pain</u>
- 14 Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Pharmacological management of migraine. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2023 (SIGN Publication no. 155). [cited 17 Feb 2025]. Available from url: <u>https://www.sign.ac.uk/our-guidelines/pharmacological-management-ofmigraine/</u>
- 15 Scottish Government. Management of chronic pain in children and young people. Edinburgh; 2018. [cited 06 Feb 2025]. Available from url: https://www.gov.scot/publications/management-chronic-pain-children-young-people/
- 16 World Health Organization. Guidelines on the management of chronic pain in children. Geneva: WHO; 2020. [cited 17 Feb 2025]. Available from url: https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/337999/9789240017870-eng.pdf?sequence=1

- 17 Siaton BC, Hogans BB, Frey-Law LA, Brown LM, Herndon CM, Buenaver LF. Pain, comorbidities, and clinical decision-making: conceptualization, development, and pilot testing of the Pain in Aging, Educational Assessment of Need instrument. Front Pain Res (Lausanne) 2024;5:1254792.
- 18 Foley HE, Knight JC, Ploughman M, Asghari S, Audas R. Association of chronic pain with comorbidities and health care utilization: a retrospective cohort study using health administrative data. Pain 2021;162(11):2737-49.
- 19 Merskey H, Bogduk N, (editors). Classification of chronic pain, second edition. Seattle: IASP Press; 1994.
- 20 Treede RD, Rief W, Barke A, Aziz Q, Bennett MI, Benoliel R, et al. Chronic pain as a symptom or a disease: the IASP Classification of Chronic Pain for the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11). Pain 2019;160(1):19-27.
- 21 Treede RD, Rief W, Barke A, Aziz Q, Bennett MI, Benoliel R, et al. A classification of chronic pain for ICD-11. Pain 2015;156(6):1003-7.
- 22 Smith BH, Fors EA, Korwisi B, Barke A, Cameron P, Colvin L, et al. The IASP classification of chronic pain for ICD-11: applicability in primary care. Pain 2019;160(1):83-7.
- 23 Birbaumer N, Lutzenberger W, Montoya P, Larbig W, Unertl K, Töpfner S, et al. Effects of regional anesthesia on phantom limb pain are mirrored in changes in cortical reorganization. J Neurosci 1997;17(14):5503-8.
- Flor H, Elbert T, Knecht S, Wienbruch C, Pantev C, Birbaumer N, et al. Phantom-limb pain as a perceptual correlate of cortical reorganization following arm amputation. Nature 1995;375(6531):482-4.
- 25 Rowbotham MC. Mechanisms of neuropathic pain and their implications for the design of clinical trials. Neurology 2005;65(12 Suppl 4):S66-73.
- 26 Dworkin RH, Turk DC, Peirce-Sandner S, Baron R, Bellamy N, Burke LB, et al. Research design considerations for confirmatory chronic pain clinical trials: IMMPACT recommendations. Pain 2010;149(2):177-93.
- 27 McQuay H, Moore A. Utility of clinical trial results for clinical practice. Eur J Pain 2007;11(2):123-4.
- 28 Moore RA, Derry S, McQuay HJ, Straube S, Aldington D, Wiffen P, et al. Clinical effectiveness: an approach to clinical trial design more relevant to clinical practice, acknowledging the importance of individual differences. Pain 2010;149(2):173-6.
- 29 Langford DJ, Baron R, Edwards RR, Gewandter JS, Gilron I, Griffin R, et al. What should be the entry pain intensity criteria for chronic pain clinical trials? An IMMPACT update. Pain 2023;164(9):1927-30.
- 30 Demant DT, Lund K, Vollert J, Maier C, Segerdahl M, Finnerup NB, et al. The effect of oxcarbazepine in peripheral neuropathic pain depends on pain phenotype: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phenotype-stratified study. Pain 2014;155(11):2263-73.
- 31 Haroutounian S, Holzer KJ, Kerns RD, Veasley C, Dworkin RH, Turk DC, et al. Patient engagement in designing, conducting, and disseminating clinical pain research: IMMPACT recommended considerations. Pain 2024;165(5):1013-28.
- 32 Langford DJ, Mark RP, France FO, Nishtar M, Park M, Sharma S, et al. Use of patientreported global assessment measures in clinical trials of chronic pain treatments: ACTTION systematic review and considerations. Pain 2024;165(11):2445-54.
- 33 McQuay HJ, Derry S, Moore AR, Poulain P, Legout V. Enriched enrolment with randomised withdrawal (EERW): Time for a new look at clinical trial design in chronic pain. Pain 2008;135(3):217-20.
- 34 Dworkin RH, Turk DC, Farrar JT, Haythornthwaite JA, Jensen MP, Katz NP, et al. Core outcome measures for chronic pain clinical trials: IMMPACT recommendations. Pain 2005;113(1-2):9-19.
- 35 Turk DC, Dworkin RH. What should be the core outcomes in chronic pain clinical trials? Arthritis Res Ther 2004;6(4):151-4.

- 36 Moore AR, Straube S, Eccleston C, Derry S, Aldington D, Wiffen P, et al. Estimate at your peril: imputation methods for patient withdrawal can bias efficacy outcomes in chronic pain trials using responder analyses. Pain 2012;153(2):265-8.
- 37 Jaeschke R, Singer J, Guyatt GH. Measurement of health status: Ascertaining the minimal clinically important difference. Controlled Clinical Trials 1989;10(4):407-15.
- 38 Olsen MF, Bjerre E, Hansen MD, Tendal B, Hilden J, Hróbjartsson A. Minimum clinically important differences in chronic pain vary considerably by baseline pain and methodological factors: systematic review of empirical studies. J Clin Epidemiol 2018;101:87-106 e2.
- 39 BMJ Group and the Royal Pharmaceutical Society. British National Formulary (BNF): Guidance on Prescribing. [cited 21 Oct 2024]. Available from url: <u>https://www.medicinescomplete.com/mc/bnf/current/PHP97234-guidance-on-prescribing.htm</u>
- 40 General Medical Council (GMC). Good practice in prescribing and managing medicines and devices. [cited 03 Jul 2023]. Available from url: <u>https://www.gmc-uk.org/ethical-guidance/ethical-guidance-for-doctors/prescribing-and-managing-medicines-and-devices</u>
- 41 Royal Pharmaceutical Society. A Competency Framework for all Prescribers. London: Royal Pharmaceutical Society; 2021. [cited 14 August 2023]. Available from url: <u>https://www.rpharms.com/resources/frameworks/prescribing-competency-framework/competency-framework</u>
- 42 Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Off-label or unlicensed use of medicines: prescribers' responsibilities. Drug safety update 2009;2(9):6-7.
- 43 Berterame S, Erthal J, Thomas J, Fellner S, Vosse B, Clare P, et al. Use of and barriers to access to opioid analgesics: a worldwide, regional, and national study. Lancet 2016;387(10028):1644-56.
- 44 Schuchat A, Houry D, Guy GP. New data on opioid use and prescribing in the United States. JAMA 2017;318(5):425-6.
- 45 Seth P, Scholl L, Rudd RA, Bacon S. Overdose deaths involving opioids, cocaine, and psychostimulants United States, 2015–2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2018;67(12):349-58.
- 46 Curtis HJ, Croker R, Walker AJ, Richards GC, Quinlan J, Goldacre B. Opioid prescribing trends and geographical variation in England, 1998-2018: a retrospective database study. Lancet Psychiatry 2019;6(2):140-50.
- 47 Torrance N, Mansoor R, Wang H, Gilbert S, Macfarlane GJ, Serpell M, et al. Association of opioid prescribing practices with chronic pain and benzodiazepine co-prescription: a primary care data linkage study. Br J Anaesth 2018;120(6):1345-55.
- 48 Hébert HL, Morales DR, Torrance N, Smith BH, Colvin LA. Assessing the impact of a national clinical guideline for the management of chronic pain on opioid prescribing rates: a controlled interrupted time series analysis. Implement Sci 2022;17(1):77.
- 49 Public Health Scotland. National Therapeutic Indicators. [cited 13 Feb 2025]. Available from url: <u>https://scotland.shinyapps.io/nhs-prescribing-nti/</u>
- 50 Torrance N, Veluchamy A, Zhou Y, Fletcher EH, Moir E, Hebert HL, et al. Trends in gabapentinoid prescribing, co-prescribing of opioids and benzodiazepines, and associated deaths in Scotland. Br J Anaesth 2020;125(2):159-67.
- 51 National Records of Scotland. Drug-related deaths in Scotland in 2023. [cited 13 Feb 2025]. Available from url: <u>https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/publications/drug-related-deaths-in-scotland-in-2023/</u>
- 52 International Association for the Study of Pain. Opioids for Pain Management. [cited 21 Oct 2024]. Available from url: <u>https://www.iasp-pain.org/advocacy/iasp-statements/opioids-for-pain-management/?ltemNumber=7194</u>
- 53 Neuman MD, Bateman BT, Wunsch H. Inappropriate opioid prescription after surgery. Lancet 2019;393(10180):1547-57.

- 54 BMJ Group and the Royal Pharmaceutical Society. British National Formulary (BNF): Treatment summaries - analgesics. [cited 21 Oct 2024]. Available from url: <u>https://www.medicinescomplete.com/#/content/bnf/_133479411</u>
- 55 Chou R, Hartung D, Turner J, Blazina I, Chan B, Levander X, et al. Opioid Treatments for Chronic Pain. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality 2020:04.
- 56 Noori A, Sadeghirad B, Wang L, Siemieniuk RAC, Shokoohi M, Kum E, et al. Comparative benefits and harms of individual opioids for chronic non-cancer pain: a systematic review and network meta-analysis of randomised trials. British Journal of Anaesthesia 2022;129:394-406.
- 57 Chou R, Selph S, Wagner J, Ahmed AY, Jungbauer R, Mauer K, et al. Systematic Review on Opioid Treatments for Chronic Pain: Surveillance Report 1. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2022. Available from url: <u>https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/related_files/opioid-chronic-painsurveillance-report-1.pdf</u>
- 58 Chou R, Selph S, Wagner J, Ahmed AY, Jungbauer R, Mauer K, et al. Systematic Review on Opioid Treatments for Chronic Pain: Surveillance Report 2. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2022. Available from url: <u>https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/related_files/opioid-chronic-painsurveillance-report-2.pdf</u>
- 59 Chou R, Selph S, Wagner J, Ahmed AY, Jungbauer R, Mauer K, et al. Systematic Review on Opioid Treatments for Chronic Pain: Surveillance Report 3. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2022. Available from url: <u>https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/related_files/opioid-chronic-painsurveillance-report-3.pdf</u>
- 60 Krebs EE, Gravely A, Nugent S, Jensen AC, DeRonne B, Goldsmith ES, et al. Effect of Opioid vs Nonopioid Medications on Pain-Related Function in Patients With Chronic Back Pain or Hip or Knee Osteoarthritis Pain: The SPACE Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2018;319(9):872-82.
- 61 Shah D, Zhao X, Wei W, Gandhi K, Dwibedi N, Webster L, et al. A Longitudinal Study of the Association of Opioid Use with Change in Pain Interference and Functional Limitations in a Nationally Representative Cohort of Adults with Osteoarthritis in the United States. Adv Ther 2020;37(2):819-32.
- 62 Jani M, Girard N, Bates DW, Buckeridge DL, Dixon WG, Tamblyn R. Comparative risk of mortality in new users of prescription opioids for noncancer pain: results from the International Pharmacosurveillance Study. Pain 2024.
- 63 Thomas KH, Dalili MN, Cheng HY, Dawson S, Donnelly N, Higgins JPT, et al. Prevalence of problematic pharmaceutical opioid use in patients with chronic non-cancer pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Addiction 2024;119(11):1904-22.
- 64 Bedson J, Chen Y, Ashworth J, Hayward RA, Dunn KM, Jordan KP. Risk of adverse events in patients prescribed long-term opioids: A cohort study in the UK Clinical Practice Research Datalink. Eur J Pain 2019;23(5):908-22.
- 65 Chou R, Fanciullo GJ, Fine PG, Miaskowski C, Passik SD, Portenoy RK. Opioids for chronic noncancer pain: prediction and identification of aberrant drug-related behaviors: a review of the evidence for an American Pain Society and American Academy of Pain Medicine clinical practice guideline. J Pain 2009;10(2):131-46.
- 66 Dowell D, Ragan KR, Jones CM, Baldwin GT, Chou R. CDC Clinical Practice Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Pain - United States, 2022. MMWR Recomm Rep 2022;71(3):1-95.
- 67 Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. Guidance for opioid reduction in primary care. Oxford Pain Management Centre; 2023. [cited 29 Jan 2025]. Available from url: <u>https://www.ouh.nhs.uk/services/referrals/pain/documents/gp-guidance-opioid-</u> reduction.pdf
- 68 Coffin PO, Behar E, Rowe C, Santos GM, Coffa D, Bald M, et al. Nonrandomized Intervention Study of Naloxone Coprescription for Primary Care Patients Receiving Long-Term Opioid Therapy for Pain. Annals of Internal Medicine 2016;165:245-52.

- 69 McCowan C, Kidd B, Fahey T. Factors associated with mortality in Scottish patients receiving methadone in primary care: retrospective cohort study. BMJ 2009;338:b2225.
- 70 Yarborough BJ, Stumbo SP, Janoff SL, Yarborough MT, McCarty D, Chilcoat HD, et al. Understanding opioid overdose characteristics involving prescription and illicit opioids: A mixed methods analysis. Drug Alcohol Depend 2016;167:49-56.
- 71 Bukowska B. Current and Potential Use of Biologically Active Compounds Derived from Cannabis sativa L. in the Treatment of Selected Diseases. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 2024;25(23):12738.
- 72 An D, Peigneur S, Hendrickx LÁ, Tytgat J. Targeting Cannabinoid Receptors: Current Status and Prospects of Natural Products. Int J Mol Sci 2020;21(14).
- 73 Huang S, Xiao P, Sun J. Structural basis of signaling of cannabinoids receptors: paving a way for rational drug design in controling mutiple neurological and immune diseases. Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy 2020;5(1):127.
- van den Hoogen NJ, Harding EK, Davidson CED, Trang T. Cannabinoids in Chronic Pain: Therapeutic Potential Through Microglia Modulation. Frontiers in Neural Circuits 2022;15.
- 75 Scottish Medicines Consortium. delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol (Sativex). [cited 13 Feb 2025]. Available from url: <u>https://scottishmedicines.org.uk/medicines-advice/delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol-and-cannabidiol-sativex-full-smc2473/</u>
- 76 National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE). Cannabis-based medicinal products. London: NICE; 2019. [cited 10 Dec 2024]. Available from url: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng144
- 77 Faculty of Pain Medicine of the Royal College of Anaesthetists. Position statement on the medicinal use of Cannabinoids in Pain Medicine. [cited 10 Dec 2024]. Available from url: <u>https://www.fpm.ac.uk/update-faculty-position-statement-medicinal-use-cannabinoids-pain-medicine</u>
- 78 International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP). IASP Position Statement on the Use of Cannabinoids to Treat Pain. [cited 10 Dec 2024]. Available from url: <u>https://www.iasp-pain.org/publications/iasp-news/iasp-position-statement-on-the-use-of-cannabinoids-to-treat-pain/</u>
- 79 Barakji J, Korang SK, Feinberg J, Maagaard M, Mathiesen O, Gluud C, et al. Cannabinoids versus placebo for pain: A systematic review with meta-analysis and Trial Sequential Analysis. PLoS ONE [Electronic Resource] 2023;18(1):e0267420.
- 80 Bialas P, Fitzcharles MA, Klose P, Hauser W. Long-term observational studies with cannabis-based medicines for chronic non-cancer pain: A systematic review and metaanalysis of effectiveness and safety. European Journal of Pain 2022;26(6):1221-33.
- 81 Chou R, Ahmed AY, Morasco BJ, Bougatsos C, Dana T, Fu R, et al. Living Systematic Review on Cannabis and Other Plant-Based Treatments for Chronic Pain: 2023 Update. Comparative Effectiveness Review No. 250. . [cited 28th August]. Available from url: <u>https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/related_files/cannabis-2023-update-surv-rep-4.pdf</u>
- 82 Dykukha I, Malessa R, Essner U, Uberall MA. Nabiximols in Chronic Neuropathic Pain: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials. Pain Medicine 2021;22(4):861-74.
- 83 Giossi R, Carrara F, Padroni M, Bilancio MC, Mazzari M, Enisci S, et al. Systematic Review and Meta-analysis Seem to Indicate that Cannabinoids for Chronic Primary Pain Treatment Have Limited Benefit. Pain and Therapy 2022;11(4):1341-58.
- 84 Jeddi Haron M, Busse Jason W, Sadeghirad B, Levine M, Zoratti Michael J, Wang L, et al. Cannabis for medical use versus opioids for chronic non-cancer pain: a systematic review and network meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials. BMJ Open 2024;14(1):e068182.
- 85 Johal H, Devji T, Chang Y, Simone J, Vannabouathong C, Bhandari M. Cannabinoids in Chronic Non-Cancer Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Clinical medicine insights. Arthritis and musculoskeletal disorders 2020;13:1179544120906461.
- 86 McParland AL, Bhatia A, Matelski J, Tian C, Diep C, Clarke H, et al. Evaluating the impact of cannabinoids on sleep health and pain in patients with chronic neuropathic pain: a

systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Regional Anesthesia & Pain Medicine 2023;48(4):180-90.

- 87 Mucke M, Phillips T, Radbruch L, Petzke F, Hauser W. Cannabis-based medicines for chronic neuropathic pain in adults. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2018;3:CD012182.
- 88 Sainsbury B, Bloxham J, Pour MH, Padilla M, Enciso R. Efficacy of cannabis-based medications compared to placebo for the treatment of chronic neuropathic pain: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Journal of Dental Anesthesia & Pain Medicine 2021;21(6):479-506.
- 89 Stockings E, Campbell G, Hall WD, Nielsen S, Zagic D, Rahman R, et al. Cannabis and cannabinoids for the treatment of people with chronic noncancer pain conditions: a systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled and observational studies. Pain 2018;159(10):1932-54.
- 90 Wang L, Hong PJ, May C, Rehman Y, Oparin Y, Hong CJ, et al. Medical cannabis or cannabinoids for chronic non-cancer and cancer related pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials. Bmj 2021;374:n1034.
- 91 Wong SSC, Chan WS, Cheung CW. Analgesic Effects of Cannabinoids for Chronic Noncancer Pain: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis with Meta-Regression. Journal Of Neuroimmune Pharmacology: The Official Journal Of The Society On NeuroImmune Pharmacology 2020;15(4):801-29.
- 92 Zeraatkar D, Cooper MA, Agarwal A, Vernooij RWM, Leung G, Loniewski K, et al. Longterm and serious harms of medical cannabis and cannabinoids for chronic pain: a systematic review of non-randomised studies. BMJ Open 2022;12(8):e054282.
- 93 Frank B, Serpell MG, Hughes J, Matthews JN, Kapur D. Comparison of analgesic effects and patient tolerability of nabilone and dihydrocodeine for chronic neuropathic pain: randomised, crossover, double blind study. BMJ 2008;336(7637):199-201.
- 94 McDonagh MS, Morasco BJ, Wagner J, Ahmed AY, Fu R, Kansagara D, et al. Cannabis-Based Products for Chronic Pain : A Systematic Review. Annals of Internal Medicine 2022;175(8):1143-53.
- 95 Breivik H, Collett B, Ventafridda V, Cohen R, Gallacher D. Survey of chronic pain in Europe: prevalence, impact on daily life, and treatment. Eur J Pain 2006;10(4):287-333.
- 96 Kawai K, Kawai AT, Wollan P, Yawn BP. Adverse impacts of chronic pain on health-related quality of life, work productivity, depression and anxiety in a community-based study. Fam Pract 2017;34(6):656-61.
- 97 Lunn MP, Hughes RA, Wiffen PJ. Duloxetine for treating painful neuropathy, chronic pain or fibromyalgia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014;2014(1):CD007115.
- 98 Staiger TO, Gaster B, Sullivan MD, Deyo RA. Systematic review of antidepressants in the treatment of chronic low back pain. Spine 2003;28(22):2540-5.
- 99 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Neuropathic pain in adults: pharmacological management in non-specialist settings. London; 2013. (NICE Clinical Guideline CG173). [cited 30 Jan 2025]. Available from url: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg173
- 100 National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE). Chronic pain (primary and secondary) in over 16s: assessment of all chronic pain and management of chronic primary pain. London: NICE; 2021. (NICE Guideline NG193). [cited 18 Nov 2024]. Available from url: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng193</u>
- 101 Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Management of diabetes. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2010. (SIGN publication no.116). [cited 30 Jan 2025]. Available from url: www.sign.ac.uk
- 102 Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Management of chronic pain. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2013. (SIGN publication no. 136). [cited 18 Nov 2024]. Available from url: <u>https://www.sign.ac.uk/our-guidelines/management-of-chronic-pain/</u>

- 103 Birkinshaw H, Friedrich CM, Cole P, Eccleston C, Serfaty M, Stewart G, et al. Antidepressants for pain management in adults with chronic pain: a network meta-analysis. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2023;5:CD014682.
- 104 Derry S, Phillips T, Moore RA, Wiffen PJ. Milnacipran for neuropathic pain in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015;2015(7):CD011789.
- 105 Derry S, Wiffen PJ, Aldington D, Moore RA. Nortriptyline for neuropathic pain in adults. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2015(1).
- 106 Gallagher HC, Gallagher RM, Butler M, Buggy DJ, Henman MC. Venlafaxine for neuropathic pain in adults. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2015(8).
- 107 Hearn L, Derry S, Phillips T, Moore RA, Wiffen PJ. Imipramine for neuropathic pain in adults. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2014(5).
- 108 Hearn L, Moore RA, Derry S, Wiffen PJ, Phillips T. Desipramine for neuropathic pain in adults. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2014(9).
- 109 Moore RA, Derry S, Aldington D, Cole P, Wiffen PJ. Amitriptyline for neuropathic pain in adults. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2015(7).
- 110 Walitt B, Urrútia G, Nishishinya MB, Cantrell SE, Häuser W. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors for fibromyalgia syndrome. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2015(6).
- 111 Welsch P, Üçeyler N, Klose P, Walitt B, Häuser W. Serotonin and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs) for fibromyalgia. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2018(2).
- 112 The British Pain Society. Guidelines for Pain Management Programmes for Adults. London: The British Pain Society; 2021. [cited 12 Feb 2025]. Available from url: <u>https://www.britishpainsociety.org/static/uploads/resources/files/PMP_guidelines_8QD8FJF_.pdf</u>
- 113 Kamper SJ, Apeldoorn AT, Chiarotto A, Smeets RJ, Ostelo RW, Guzman J, et al. Multidisciplinary biopsychosocial rehabilitation for chronic low back pain: Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2015;350:h444.
- 114 The British Pain Society. Participant Information: Pain Management Programmes. London: The British Pain Society; 2022. [cited 30 Jan 2025]. Available from url: https://www.britishpainsociety.org/static/uploads/resources/files/PMP participant leaflet.pdf
- 115 International Association for the Study of Pain. Terminology. [cited 30 Jan 2025]. Available from url: <u>https://www.iasp-pain.org/resources/terminology/</u>
- Skelly AC, Chou R, Dettori JR, Brodt ED, Diulio-Nakamura A, Mauer K, et al. Integrated and Comprehensive Pain Management Programs: Effectiveness and Harms. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2021. (Comparative Effectiveness Review, No. 251). [cited 30 Jan 2025]. Available from url: <u>https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/cer-251-integrated-painmanagement.pdf</u>
- 117 The Scottish Government. Rural Scotland Key Facts 2021. Edinburgh; 2021. (A National Statistics Publication). [cited 30 Jan 2025]. Available from url: <u>https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/statistics/2021/02/rur</u> <u>al-scotland-key-facts-2021/documents/rural-scotland-key-facts-2021/rural-scotland-key-facts-2021/govscot%3Adocument/rural-scotland-key-facts-2021.pdf</u>
- 118 Dysvik E, Lindstrøm TC, Eikeland OJ, Natvig GK. Health-related quality of life and pain beliefs among people suffering from chronic pain. Pain Manag Nurs 2004;5(2):66-74.
- 119 Lumley MA, Cohen JL, Borszcz GS, Cano A, Radcliffe AM, Porter LS, et al. Pain and emotion: a biopsychosocial review of recent research. J Clin Psychol 2011;67(9):942-68.
- 120 Declercq J. Talking about chronic pain: Misalignment in discussions of the body, mind and social aspects in pain clinic consultations. Health (London) 2023;27(3):378-97.
- 121 Eccleston C, Aldington D, Moore A, de C. Williams AC. Pragmatic but flawed: the NICE guideline on chronic pain. Lancet 2021;397(10289):2029-31.
- 122 Nicholson K, Martelli MF, Zasler ND. Myths and misconceptions about chronic pain: The problem of mind body dualism. In: Weiner RB, editor. Pain management: A practical guide for clinicians. 6th ed. Boca Raton, FL: St. Lucie Press.; 2002. p.465-74.

- 123 Rosenzweig S, Greeson JM, Reibel DK, Green JS, Jasser SA, Beasley D. Mindfulnessbased stress reduction for chronic pain conditions: variation in treatment outcomes and role of home meditation practice. J Psychosom Res 2010;68(1):29-36.
- 124 Williams ACC, Fisher E, Hearn L, Eccleston C. Psychological therapies for the management of chronic pain (excluding headache) in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2020;8(8):CD007407.
- 125 Rosser BA, Fisher E, Janjua S, Eccleston C, Keogh E, Duggan G. Psychological therapies delivered remotely for the management of chronic pain (excluding headache) in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2023;8(8):CD013863.
- 126 Khoo EL, Small R, Cheng W, Hatchard T, Glynn B, Rice DB, et al. Comparative evaluation of group-based mindfulness-based stress reduction and cognitive behavioural therapy for the treatment and management of chronic pain: A systematic review and network metaanalysis. Evid Based Ment Health 2019;22(1):26-35.
- 127 Skelly AC, Chou R, Dettori JR, Turner JA, Friedly JL, Rundell SD, et al. Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review Update. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2020. (Comparative Effectiveness Review, No. 227). [cited 31 Jan 2025]. Available from url: <u>https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/related_files/noninvasive-nonpharmpain-update.pdf</u>
- 128 Faculty of Pain Medicine. Core Standards for Pain Management Services in the UK. Royal College of Anaesthetists; 2022. [cited 31 Jan 2025]. Available from url: https://www.fpm.ac.uk/standards-guidelines/core-standards
- 129 Hadi MA, Alldred DP, Briggs M, Marczewski K, Closs SJ. 'Treated as a number, not treated as a person': a qualitative exploration of the perceived barriers to effective pain management of patients with chronic pain. BMJ Open 2017;7(6):e016454.
- 130 Baker MB, Liu EC, Bully MA, Hsieh A, Nozari A, Tuler M, et al. Overcoming Barriers: A Comprehensive Review of Chronic Pain Management and Accessibility Challenges in Rural America. Healthcare 2024;12(17):1765.
- 131 Public Health Scotland. Chronic Pain Waiting Times Quarter ending 31 March 2024. Edinburgh; 2024. [cited 12 Feb 2025]. Available from url: <u>https://publichealthscotland.scot/publications/chronic-pain-waiting-times/chronic-pain-waiting-times-quarter-ending-31-march-2024/</u>
- 132 Wilson MV, Braithwaite FA, Arnold JB, Crouch SM, Moore E, Heil A, et al. The effectiveness of peer support interventions for community-dwelling adults with chronic musculoskeletal pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised trials. Pain 2024;165(12):2698-720.
- 133 Barlow J, Wright C, Sheasby J, Turner A, Hainsworth J. Self-management approaches for people with chronic conditions: a review. Patient Education and Counseling 2002;48(2):177-87.
- 134 Cargnin ZA, Schneider DG, Rosa-Junior JN. Digital self-care in the management of spine musculoskeletal disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Rev Lat Am Enfermagem 2023;31:e3908.
- 135 Moreno-Ligero M, Moral-Munoz JA, Salazar A, Failde I. mHealth Intervention for Improving Pain, Quality of Life, and Functional Disability in Patients With Chronic Pain: Systematic Review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2023;11:e40844.
- 136 Scholz C, Schmigalle P, Plessen CY, Liegl G, Vajkoczy P, Prasser F, et al. The effect of self-management techniques on relevant outcomes in chronic low back pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Pain 2024;28(4):532-50.
- 137 Guy L, McKinstry C, Bruce C. Effectiveness of Pacing as a Learned Strategy for People With Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review. Am J Occup Ther 2019;73(3):7303205060p1-p10.
- 138 Wegrzynek PA, Wainwright E, Ravalier J. Return to work interventions for chronic pain: a systematic review. Occup Med (Lond) 2020;70(4):268-77.

- 139 Whale K, Dennis J, Wylde V, Beswick A, Gooberman-Hill R. The effectiveness of nonpharmacological sleep interventions for people with chronic pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2022;23(1):440.
- 140 Health and Social Care Alliance Scotland. My Path, My Life, My Right to Live Well. 2021. [cited 28 Oct 2024]. Available from url: <u>https://www.alliance-scotland.org.uk/policy-and-research/research/my-path-my-life-my-right-to-live-well/</u>